

REPUBLIC OF TÜRKİYE KIRŞEHİR AHİ EVRAN UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF HEALTH SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICAL THERAPY AND REHABILITATION

# EARLY PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND ITS EFFECTS ON FUNCTIONAL CAPACITY AND QUALITY OF LIFE IN POST-SURGERY CARDIAC PATIENTS

Husham Abdullateef Salman AL-JADDAH

**MASTER'S THESIS** 

KIRŞEHİR / 2024



REPUBLIC OF TÜRKİYE KIRŞEHİR AHİ EVRAN UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF HEALTH SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICAL THERAPY AND REHABILITATION

# EARLY PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND ITS EFFECTS ON FUNCTIONAL CAPACITY AND QUALITY OF LIFE IN POST-SURGERY CARDIAC PATIENTS

Husham Abdullateef Salman AL-JADDAH

**MASTER'S THESIS** 

<u>ADVISOR</u> Assist. Prof. Dr. İsmail CEYLAN

**KIRŞEHİR / 2024** 

### ACCEPTANCE AND APPROVAL

Kırşehir Ahi Evran University, Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Master's thesis study titled "Early Physical Activty and Its Effects on Functional Capacity and Quality of Life in Post-Surgery Cardiac Patients" prepared by student with the number (211211152) Husham Abdulateef Salman AL-JADDAH. It has been accepted as a Master's thesis in the Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation by the following jury on 26 /2/2024

#### **Thesis Jury**

## Assist. Prof. Dr. İsmail CEYLAN

Kirsehir Ahi Evran University Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation (Advisor)

### Assist. Prof. Dr. Şafak KUZU

Kirsehir Ahi Evran University Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation (Member)

#### Assist. Prof. Dr. Hikmet KOCAMAN

Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation (Member)

## THESIS STATEMENT

I declare that all the information in the thesis is obtained and presented within the framework of ethical behavior and academic rules, and in this study, which is prepared in accordance with the thesis writing rules, all kinds of statements that do not belong to me are fully cited to the source of the information.

Husham Abdulateef Salman AL-JADDAH

According to Objects 9/2 and 22/2 of the Graduate Education and Training Regulation published in the Official Gazette dated 20.04.2016; A report in accordance with the criteria determined by the Institute of Health Sciences was obtained by using the plagiarism software program for this postgraduate thesis.

Husham Abdulateef Salman AL-JADDAH

## PREFACE

First of all, I thank God, after patiently and diligently completing my study. In addition to being an example to me with the calm and patient attitudes he has shown since the day I started my master's degree and during my master's course, the one who supported me, facilitated my difficulties, his encouragement and his helping for me continuously, and taught me a lot, he was always supports me wherever I go, teaching the most valuable information of my professional and academic life. I would like to thank my esteemed professor, advisor Dr. Ismail CEYLAN. I also took the opportunity to express my thanks to My friend Raed ALJANABI who did not hesitate to advise me on the correction of my work. I would like to thank all my teachers for their efforts in my education who helped, supported me with love, appreciation, advice, direction and guidance from my childhood to this stage. I dedicate my thesis to my family Especially my dear wife, who have never spared their sacrifice in every period of my life, whose prayers I always felt with me, for the trust and support they have shown in me likewise, I do not forget the invitations of my parents in my scientific career. Thank you from deep of my heart.

Husham Abdulateef Salman AL-JADDAH

FEBRUARY 2024

## CONTENTS

PREFACEiv
LIST OF FIGURES vi
LIST OF TABLES viii
LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONSix
ABSTRACT
ÖZET xii
1. INTRODUCTION1
2. GENERAL INFORMATION4
2.1. Anatomy and Physiology of Heart4
2.2. Cardiovascular Diseases5
2.3. Etiology For Cardiovascular Diseases6
2.4. Epidemiology for Cardiovascular Diseases7
2.5. Pathophysiology For Cardiovascular Diseases8
2.6. Clinical History and Physical Examination For Cardiovascular Disorders9
2.7. Evaluation For Cardiovascular Diseases10
2.8. Treatment for Cardiovascular Diseases10
2.8.1. Medical Treatment of Cardiovascular Diseases11
2.8.2. Surgical Procedures For Cardiovascular Diseases11
2.9. Cardiac Surgery12
2.9.1. Indications For Cardiac Surgery13
2.9.2. Major Common Types of Cardiac Surgery14
2.9.3. Complications After Cardiac Surgery15
2.9.4. Clinical Significance of Heart Operation16
2.10. Physical Activity16
2.11. Life Quality Following Cardiac Surgery17
2.12. Functional Capacity After Cardiac Surgery18
3. METHOD
3.1 Patients and Study Design20
3.1.1 Inclusion Criteria20
3.1.2 Exclusion Criteria20
3.2. Physical Activity Program21

3.3. Demographic and Clinical Information Collection	21
3.4 Outcome Measurements	22
3.4.1 Short Form 36-Item Survey	22
3.4.2 International Physical Activity Questionnaire	22
3.4.3 Six Minute Walking Test	23
3.4.4. Sample Size Calculation	24
3.5. Statistical Analysis	24
4. RESULTS	25
5. DISCUSSION	41
6. CONCLUSION	46
REFERENCES	47
CURRICULUM VITAE	

#### LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 2.1: Heart Anatomy.
- Figure 2.2: Cardiac surgery room.

Figure 3.1: Physical activity program.

Figure 3.2: Six minute walk test.

Figure 4.1: Sex distribution of the studied patients.

Figure 4.2: Marital status of the studied patients.

Figure 4.3: Educational level of the studied patients.

Figure 4.4: Type of surgery performed on the studied patients.

Figure 4.5: Risk factors of the studied patients.

Figure 4.6: The prevalence of old surgeries performed on the studied patients.

Figure 4.7: Type of physical activity among the studied patients.

**Figure 4.8:** Scatter plot demonstrating the correlation between energy/fatigue score and MET amount.

**Figure 4.9:** Scatter plot demonstrating the correlation between social function score and MET amount.

Figure 4.10: Scatter plot demonstrating the correlation between pain score and MET amount.

**Figure 4.11:** Scatter plot demonstrating the correlation between general health score and MET amount.

**Figure 4.12:** Scatter plot demonstrating the correlation between health change and SF-IPAQ amount.

## LIST OF TABLES

**Table 4.1:** Baseline characteristics of the studied patients.

- **Table 4.1:** Six-minute walk test for functional capacity assessment of the studied patients.
- **Table 4.2:** 36-Item Short Form Survey for quality of life assessment of the patients.
- **Table 3.4:** Summary of physical activity level among the studied patients.
- Table 4.4: Correlation between SF-IPAQ score and different characteristics of the patients.
- **Table 4.5:** Linear regression analysis for factors associated with SF-IPAQ among the patients.
- **Table 4.6:** Correlation between SF-IPAQ score and categories of SF-36 score.
- Table 4.7: Linear regression analysis for the association of SF-IPAQ score with SF-36 score.
- **Table 4.8:** Correlation between SF-IPAQ score and 6MWT score.
- **Table 4.9:** Linear regression analysis for the association of SF-IPAQ with 6MWT score.

## LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

**CVD** : Cardiovascular Disease

- CAD : Coronary Artery Disease
- **CPB** : Cardiopulmonary Bypass
- CVA : Cerebrovascular Accident
- CABG: Coronary Artery Bypass Graft
- MI : Myocardial infarction
- **MR** : Mitral Regurgitation
- **AVR** : Aortic Valve Repair/Replacement
- MVR : Mitral Valve Repair/Replacement
- ECC : Extracorporeal Circulation
- **CRP** : Cardiac Rehabilitation Program
- 6MWT: Six Minute Walk Test
- **PA** : Physical Activity
- QoL : Quality of Life
- SF-IPAQ: Short-Form International Physical Activity Questionnaire
- **SF-36** : Short Form-36 health survey
- HRQOL: Health-related quality of life

## ABSTRACT

#### **M.Sc. THESIS**

## EARLY PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND ITS EFFECTS ON FUNCTIONAL CAPACITY AND QUALITY OF LIFE IN POST-SURGERY CARDIAC PATIENTS

Husham Abdulateef Salman AL-JADDAH

## Kırşehir Ahi Evran University Institute of Health Sciences Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation

#### Advisor: Assist. Prof. Dr. İsmail CEYLAN

The heart and blood arteries make up the cardiovascular system. Heart and blood vessel problems together referred to as cardiovascular diseases (CVD) include congenital heart disease, cerebrovascular illness, and coronary heart disease. It is expected that CVD will remain the leading cause of death and disability in the world going forward. Medication therapy, exercise, a balanced diet, and heart surgery are the main treatments for CVD. Cardiovascular surgery has decreased CVD mortality and tended to become less invasive with the rapid development in CVD treatment.

After cardiac surgery, exercise helps people heal, but not enough exercise can make recovery more difficult. Physical activity following heart surgery is crucial for minimizing unfavorable outcomes, although postoperative patient participation in physical activity has typically been insufficient. The purpose of this research is to assess the impact of early physical activity on patients undergoing heart surgery's quality of life and functional ability.

This study was carried out for heart surgery at the Ibin AL-Bitar Hospital in Baghdad, Iraq. In all, 100 individuals between the ages of 18 and 65 who had cardiac surgery (52 men and 48 women) willingly took part in the study. From the first postoperative day (POD) to the seventh POD, all patients took part in the early physical activity program in the surgical wards and intensive care unit (ICU). This program comprised the following: In the ICU, on the first or

second POD, shoulder and neck movements, breathing exercises, and postural drainage are performed. Breathing exercises, postural drainage, and supervised walking in increments of 2.5 minutes, as tolerated, up to 10 minutes in the morning, afternoon, and evening, as well as at night, are recommended for patients in the surgery ward from 3 to 7 POD. The six-minute walk test (6MWT), the short form-36 quality of life (SF-36), and the short form-international physical activity questionnaire (SF-IPAQ) were utilized as outcome measures. On the seventh postoperative day, every patient finished examinations and questionnaires.

According to statistical analysis, there was a statistically significant correlation between the SF-IPAQ score and the 6MWT and SF-36. The results of this study showed that patients who engaged in an early physical exercise program following heart surgery had improved functional capacity and overall quality of life.

26 February 2024, 86 Pages

**Keywords:** Cardiovascular diseases, cardiac surgery, physical activity, functional capacity, quality of life.

## ÖZET

#### YÜKSEK LİSANS TEZİ

## POST-OPERATİF KARDİYAK HASTALARDA ERKEN FİZİKSEL AKTİVİTENİN FONKSİYONEL KAPASİTE VE YAŞAM KALİTESI ÜZERİNE ETKİLERİ

Husham Abdulateef Salman AL – JADDAH

Kırşehir Ahi Evran Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü Fizyoterapi ve Rehabilitasyon Bölümü

Danışman: Dr. Öğr. Üyesi İsmail CEYLAN

Kardiyovasküler sistem kalp ve kan damarlarından oluşur. Kardiyovasküler hastalıklar (KVH), koroner kalp hastalığı, serebrovasküler hastalık ve konjenital kalp hastalığını içerir. KVH, dünya çapında en sık mortalite ve morbidite nedenidir. KVH için ana terapötik prosedürler ilaç tedavisi, fiziksel aktivite, sağlıklı beslenme ve kalp cerrahisidir. Kalp cerrahisi sonrası fiziksel aktivite hastaların iyileşmesini kolaylaştırırken, yetersiz fiziksel aktivite ise komplikasyonları arttırabilir. Kardiyovasküler sistemde en sık görülen problemler arasında; endokardit, romatizmal kalp hastalığı ve iletim sistemindeki anormallikler sayılabilir. KVH için en yaygın kullanılan tedavi yöntemleri ilaç tedavisi, fiziksel aktivite, diyet ve kardiyak cerrahidir.

Dünya Sağlık Örgütü (WHO), kan basıncı, kolesterol, obezite ve sigara içiminin kontrolü ile KVH'lerin görülme sıklığının yarıya indirilebileceğini bildirmektedir. Günümüzde yıldan yıla artan KVH'ler mortalite ve morbiditenin başlıca sebeplerindendir. WHO'ya göre, KVH her yıl yaklaşık 17,9 milyon kişinin ölümüne sebebiyet vermekte ve dünyada ölüm nedenleri arasında birinci sırada yer almaktadır. KVH nedeniyle gerçekleşen beş ölümünün dördü kalp krizi ve serebrovasküler olaylardan kaynaklanmakta ve bu ölümlerin üçte biri 70 yaşın altındaki kişilerde gerçekleşmektedir.

Post-operatif dönemde aktif olan hastaların hastanede kalma sürelerinin daha kısa olduğu ve post-operatif komplikasyonlara daha az maruz kaldıkları bilinmektedir. Dünya Sağlık Örgütü'ne göre, tekrarlayan kardiyovasküler olayların %75'i önlenebilmekte ve ikincil koruma bu yükü hafifletebilmektedir. Kardiyak rehabilitasyon (KR), mortaliteyi azaltan ve KVH'li hastaların yaşam kalitesine olumlu etki eden, etkili bir ikincil korunma için tüm klavuz önerileri sunan kapsamlı bir bakım modelidir. Kardiyak rehabilitasyon programları ile KVH'li hastaların, değiştirilebilir risk faktörlerini önleyerek veya ortadan kaldırarak, hastalık öncesi durumlarını yeniden kazanmaları hedeflenmektedir. Kardiyak rehabilitasyon, hastanın değerlendirilmesi, diyet, kilo verilmesi, egzersiz eğitimi, kronik hastalıkların tedavisi, psikososyal destek, fiziksel aktivite danışmanlığı ve sigaranın bıraktırılması olmak üzere on bileşenden meydana gelmektedir. Kalp ameliyatı geçirmiş bireylerde de fiziksel aktivitenin hastanede yatış süresini ve komplikasyon görülme sıklığını azaltığı bildirilmektedir. Bu çalışmanın amacı kalp cerrahisi ameliyatı geçirmiş 18-65 yaş arası bireylerde erken mobilizasyon ve fonksiyonel egzersizin fiziksel aktivite, fonksiyonel durum ve denge üzerine etkisini değerlendirmektir.

Bu çalışma Bağdat/Irak'ta Ibn-i AL – Bitar Kalp Hastanesi'nde yapılmıştır. Bu çalışmaya, kardiyak cerrahi geçirmiş, yaş aralığı 18-65 olan (52 erkek, 48 kadın) toplam 100 hasta katılmıştır. Tüm hastalara post-operatif birinci günden itibaren 7 gün boyunca erken fiziksel aktivite programı uygulanmıştır. Programa öncelikle yoğun bakımda başlanmış, sonrasında cerrahi servislerde devam edilmiştir. Erken fiziksel aktivite kapsamında hastalara postoperatif ilk ve ikinci gün yoğun bakım ünitesinde omuz ve boyun mobilizasyonu, solunum egzersizleri ve postüral drenaj uygulanmıştır. Postoperatif üçüncü ve yedinci günler arasında ise hastalara cerrahi serviste solunum egzersizleri, postüral drenaj, gözetim altında yürüyüş (sabah, öğleden sonra, akşam ve gece tolerasyona göre 2.5 dakika-10 dakika) uygulandı. Sonuç ölçeği olarak Kısa form – uluslararası fiziksel aktivite anketi (SF-IPAQ), SF-36 yaşam kalitesi ölçeği, altı dakika yürüme testi (6MWT) kullanıldı. Çalışmaya alınan tüm hastalar yedi günlük programı tamamladılar. Hastaların demografik ve klinik bilgileri postoperatif ilk gün kaydedilmiştir. Değerlendirme ölçümleri ise postoperatif ilk gün ve yedinci gün yapılmıştır.

Elde edilen bulgulara göre kalp cerrahisi geçirmiş bireylerde uygulanan erken fiziksel aktivite programının fonksiyonel kapasite ve yaşam kalitesini arttırdığı gözlenmiştir. Bununla birlikte

fiziksel aktivitenin fonksiyonel kapasite ve yaşam kalitesi ile korelasyon gösterdiği bulunmuştur. Yine çalışma bulgularına göre SF-IPAQ skoru ile tüm yaşam kalitesi alt kategorileri güçlü bir istatistiksel anlamlılık tespit edilmiştir. Ayrıca SF-IPAQ skorunun; fiziksel fonksiyonellik, enerji/yorgunluk, emosyonel iyilik hali, sosyal fonksiyonellik, genel sağlık ile pozitif korelasyon gösterdiği bulunmuştur. Bunun aksine SF-IPAQ ile ağrı arasında negatif korelasyon bulunmuştur.

Çalışma sonuçlarına göre kalp cerrahisi geçirmiş bireylerde erken mobilizasyon ve fonksiyonel egzersiz, fiziksel aktivite ve fonksiyonellik üzerine iyileştirici etki göstermiştir. Kalp cerrahisi sonrası erken fiziksel aktivite çok önemlidir ve fonksiyonel kapasite ve yaşam kalitesi üzerinde olumlu etkileri vardır. Bu nedenle, kalp ameliyatı sonrası fonksiyonel kapasitelerinin ve yaşam kalitelerinin iyileştirilmesi için hastaların erken fiziksel aktiviteye teşvik edilmesi morbidite ve mortaliteyi azaltır. Bir limitasyon olarak, çalışmamızda postoperatif ilk yedi günlük veriler değerlendirilmiştir. Dolayısıyla bu konu ile ilgili yapılacak daha uzun takip süreli araştırmalar elde edilen çıkarımları güçlendirecektir.

26 Şubat 2024, 86 Sayfa

Anahtar Kelimeler: Kardiyovasküler hastalıklar, kalp cerrahisi, fiziksel aktivite, fonksiyonel kapasite, yaşam kalitesi.

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

The cardiovascular system is composed of up of blood vessels and the heart (1). Heart and blood vessel disorders, such as congenital heart abnormalities, cerebrovascular illness, and cardiovascular disease, are all included in the category of cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (2). The world's leading cause of mortality and suffering is cardiovascular disease (CVD), and this trend is probably here to stay (3). Numerous issues can affect the cardiovascular system, such as irregularities in the conduction system, rheumatic heart disease, and endocarditis (4).

While there are many other causes of cardiovascular disease, such emboli that result in ischemic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation or rheumatic fever that causes heart valve disease, it is important to concentrate on risk factors linked to the development of atherosclerosis. This is so because the pathophysiology of CVD is unified by atherosclerosis (5). Unhealthy eating habits, inactivity, smoking, excessive alcohol use, diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, socioeconomic difficulties, psychological stress, and genetic susceptibility are among the behavioral factors that raise the risk of CVD (2).

The main strategies for treating cardiovascular disease are medication, exercise, eating a healthy diet, and heart surgery (6). Heart surgery has grown more common as a result of the rapid advancements in CVD medication, and the death rate from the disease decreased (7). However, there are still a number of important risk factors for postoperative problems after cardiac surgery (8).

For a patient with cardiac disease, physical activity is essential as a basic health behavior (4). Regular and sufficient physical activity improves quality of life and reduces the risk of further cardiac problems (9). Any movement of the body that uses energy and is produced by the skeletal muscles is considered physical activity (10). Physical activity during the postoperative recovery period after cardiac surgery has been linked to shorter hospital stays and fewer postoperative complications (11).

Additionally, there is data that links differences in physical activity levels to differences in life quality: higher levels of physical activity are associated with better life quality, while lower levels are associated with worse life quality (12). Post-cardiac surgery, physical exercise improves recovery; however, inadequate exercise can hinder recovery (13). According to various studies on postoperative physical activity, patients who underwent cardiac rehabilitation (CR) or physical exercise under a physiotherapist's supervision following heart surgery reported higher functional capacities, shorter lengths of stay (14), and lower readmission rates than their non-participating peers (15). Although physical activity is important for minimizing negative outcomes after cardiac surgery, patients' engagement in physical activity after surgery has often been inadequate (16).

Van Laar et al. (13), reported that forty percent of individuals who had heart surgery were not exercising, and Brocks et al. (17) reported that over fifty percent of the study's female participants were not exercising sufficiently. Therefore, it's critical to understand the advantages of early physical exercise for patients recovering after cardiac surgery in terms of their functional capacities and overall quality of life, in order to motivate them to engage in physical activity. While several review studies have looked at heart disease patients' physical activity levels (18). However, the majority of these studies have primarily examined individuals with coronary heart disease or myocardial infarction, or have included patients with various cardiac conditions who took part in cardiac rehabilitation programs (19).

Review studies that have primarily examined the effects of early physical activity on functional ability and quality of life after cardiac surgery are generally unknown. Determining the impact of early physical activity on functional ability and quality of life in patients who had recently undergone cardiac surgery was the goal of this study in order to close this research gap. This study aims to investigate if early physical activity was effective in improving patients' quality of life and functional capacity after acute cardiac surgery. The following are the hypotheses that this study will test:

1-H1: Patients who underwent cardiac surgery have a correlation between their quality of life and physical activity.

1-H0: Patients who underwent cardiac surgery have not a correlation between their quality of life and physical activity.

2-H1: There is a correlation between an individual's functional capacity and physical activity after cardiac surgery.

2- H0: There is no correlation between an individual's functional capacity and physical activity after cardiac surgery.

3-H1: There is a correlation between functional capacity or quality of life and early physical exercise in patients recovering from cardiac surgery.

3- H0: There is no correlation between functional capacity or quality of life and early physical exercise in patients recovering from cardiac surgery.

## **2. GENERAL INFORMATION**

#### 2.1. Anatomy and Physiology of Heart

The heart is a muscle-based organ that collect blood that has lost oxygen from all regions of the body, sends it to the lungs, where it is oxygenated, and releases carbon dioxide. The blood that is rich in oxygen is then transferred from the lungs and distributed throughout the entire body (20). The heart is positioned in the middle of the chest with a slight leftward tilt (21). The right and left sides of the heart are divided into two separate sections by septa. A constriction also divides each half of the organ into two chambers. The bottom cavity is called the ventricle, while the upper cavity is called the atrium. The heart is composed of four cavities: the right atrium, left atrium, right ventricle, and left ventricle (22), as demonstrated in (Figure:2.1).



Figure 2.1: Heart Anatomy (22)

Blood flows through four valves as it moves through the heart's four chambers. Via the superior and inferior vena cava, blood enters the right atrium and passes via the tricuspid valve into the right ventricle. It then enters the pulmonary circulation after passing through the pulmonary valve. Blood is collected by the four pulmonary veins and subsequently reaches the

left atrium. Following that, the blood passes via the left ventricle, the mitral valve, and the aortic valve before entering the systemic circulation (23).

There are four valves in the heart. The main purpose of the heart's four valves is to allow blood to flow in one direction while blocking backflow (24). The annulus surrounding each heart valve is a challenge in terms of designing prosthetic grafts that don't leak. Two instances of the importance of anatomy and physiology are the negative outcome of left ventricular outflow tract occlusion and the mitral valve replacement operation. The aortic valve annulus is circular, whereas the mitral valve annulus is more crescent-shaped, necessitating a more sophisticated prosthesis and implantation procedure. Numerous artificial valve models, each with unique benefits and drawbacks related to anatomical, physiological, technological, and procedural features, demonstrate this.

The autonomic nervous system can control the heart's natural rhythmicity, which is characterized by a rise in heart rate upon sympathetic activation and a reduction in heart rate upon parasympathetic stimulation. The sinus node is the starting point for the hierarchical structure of cardiac electrical conduction, which travels via the right atrium to the atrioventricular node, the His bundle, and ultimately the ventricles via the Purkinje fibers. Understanding the anatomy and physiology of the heart is necessary to comprehend the clinical consequences of cardiac electrical activity (25).

A common condition following heart surgery is atrial fibrillation. By employing anatomical knowledge to halt uncontrollably high atrial activity, the Maze approach treats atrial fibrillation. The presence of mechanical heart valves in close proximity to the valve location during implantation may cause atrioventricular obstruction. The quality of vascular grafts has a major impact on the result of coronary artery bypass graft (CABG) surgery. A wide variety of blood arteries can be removed by surgeons. Compared to veins, arteries are more resilient (25, 26).

#### 2.2. Cardiovascular Diseases

The blood artery network and the cardiac muscle forms the cardiovascular system (1). A variety of disorders involving the heart and arteries are included in the category of

cardiovascular diseases, including congenital cardiac defects, cerebrovascular illnesses, and coronary heart disease. Cardiovascular diseases are the main cause of death worldwide. Behavioral risk factors, including poor diet, inactivity, tobacco use, and excessive alcohol intake, are linked to cardiovascular disease. Additional risks include genetic susceptibility, high blood pressure, elevated blood cholesterol, socioeconomic disadvantage, psychological distress, and diabetes (2). Currently, the fourth leading cause of death globally is inadequate physical activity, which is defined as less than five 30-minute bouts of moderate activity or less than three 20-minute bouts of intensive activity each week (28).

Participating in 150 minutes a week (or an equivalent quantity) of moderate physical activity reduces adult risk factors for both diabetes mellitus and ischemic heart disease by almost one-third (29). Moreover, exercise contributes to weight loss and improves blood pressure, lipid profile, insulin sensitivity, and blood glucose management. Its benefits for the cardiovascular system may be partially explained by these actions (28). Population-level interventions that could reduce the prevalence of cardiovascular disease include tobacco use restrictions laws, health-harming food intake levies, improvements to public infrastructure that encourage physical activity (such as bike lanes and walkways), and the provision of wholesome school meals for children. Individualized health care interventions should be offered to people who are at a high danger of cardiovascular disorder (2).

Even if advances in science and cardiovascular surgery have improved patient quality of life, social harm follows the rising morbidity and disability rate from adult heart disease. However, other research indicates that patients' quality of life increased very little following surgery (30) and those who have arterial inlless generally notice changes in their morals and ethics in comparison to their prior states. People who are diagnosed with coronary artery disease experience negative health outcomes due to limitations on their daily activities and circumstances (31).

#### 2.3. Etiology For Cardiovascular Diseases

Heart rheumatic illnesses, endocardial infections, and anomalies in the conducting mechanism are only a few of the numerous possible problems that can affect the cardiovascular system (4). While there are many different causes of cardiovascular disease, including emboli that

result in ischemic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation or rheumatic fever that causes valvular heart disease, it is crucial to address risk factors linked to the development of atherosclerosis. This is because the pathophysiology of CVD has atherosclerosis as a common denominator. Physical inactivities, consumption of a high-calorie diet, saturated fats, and carbohydrates have been known as danger factors for the development of atherosclerosis and other metabolic disorders, including hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and metabolic syndrome, which are significantly more prevalent among individuals with cardiovascular disease (5).

Cardiovascular diseases are common and have significant death rates. Several diseases have originated in inactivity, which is a major contributing component (32). Nine modifiable risk variables were found to contribute to 90% of the chance of suffering a first myocardial infarction in the inter heart study, which included individuals from 52 nations and a range of financial levels. Frequent cigarette smokers, abnormal blood lipid levels, high blood pressure, elevated blood sugar, abdominal fat, psychological and social consequences, alcoholism, and sedentary lifestyles are some of these variables. It is significant to mention that in this study, 36% of the population's risk of myocardial infarction was attributed to frequent cigarette usage (33).

Similar strong correlations and prognostic importance have been found for dyslipidemia, hypertension, tobacco use, and reduced glucose tolerance in other extensive research. Sixty to ninety percent of cases of coronary heart disease were found in those with at least one risk factor. These results have been integrated by the American Heart Association into health promotion initiatives, with a focus on seven recommendations to lower the risk of cardiovascular disease: quitting smoking, exercising frequently, eating a healthy diet, and keeping blood pressure, body weight, glucose, and cholesterol at optimal levels (34, 35). Conversely, immutable characteristics like age, sexual orientation, and family history have different outcomes (36).

#### 2.4. Epidemiology for Cardiovascular Diseases

Globally, CVD are the primary cause of death and morbidity, and this trend is anticipated to continue over the coming years (3). Over the course of each decade of life, the prevalence of heart disease increases significantly (38). Significant obstacles to global health are posed by

cardiovascular illnesses persons from low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) have an approximately 80% higher prevalence of cardiovascular disease, and South Asians are three to five times more likely than persons from other ethnic groups to acquire coronary artery disease (39). Since 1974, heart disease has consistently been one of the top two causes of death in the US. Cardiovascular diseases were the leading cause of mortality in 2014, accounting for 643,841 deaths, or 25% of all deaths. There were 595,930 documented instances of fatalities attributable to cancer (40).

The WHO estimates that CVD is the world's largest cause of death, accounting for 18.7 million deaths globally in 2014. Not only is cardiovascular disease a serious health problem, but it also costs a lot of money. Actually, it's regarded as This is the most expensive disease, even more expensive than Alzheimer's disease and diabetes mellitus. The estimated \$237 billion (billion) in non-direct expenditures associated with cardiovascular illnesses are expected to increase to \$368 billion by 2035 (41). 23,048 people in Croatia died from cardiovascular diseases in 2018, which represents 43.7% of all deaths—nearly half—of all deaths. Coronary heart disease (CHD) is the prevailing cardiovascular ailment characterized by the constriction or blockage of the arteries supplying the cardiac due to atherosclerosis (42).

Inadequate physical exercise is estimated to be the cause of over 3.2 million deaths each year, according to data from the WHO (43). Furthermore, Australia does around 20,000 heart surgeries per year (44). Turkey does almost 66,000 cardiac surgeries annually (45). and more than 60,000 individuals in Japan get heart surgery each year (46). Likewise, coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) was performed on 70% of patients with coronary artery disease in the US, Canada, and Europe; 12% of patients also underwent valve surgery in addition to CABG (47).

#### 2.5. Pathophysiology For Cardiovascular Diseases

Atherosclerotic disease is a pathologic process characterized by blood vessel stenosis, which causes decreased or absent blood flow in the arteries and aorta (48). The disorder involves a number of factors, including inflammation, immunological responses, dyslipidemia, and

endothelial dysfunction. These factors are believed to start producing greasy stripes, a characteristic that appears as atherosclerotic plaques form (49).

The thickening of the endothelium, or innermost layer of the blood arteries, is the first step in this process. Next comes the formation of connective tissue and macrophages, or foam cells, which carry fat. Following that, the development of atherosclerotic plaques is facilitated by the clustering in the spread of soft muscle cells (50). For instance, if these lesions keep growing, the deep layers would experience apoptosis, which would draw in more macrophages that might calcify and develop into atherosclerotic plaques (51).

#### 2.6. Clinical History and Physical Examination For Cardiovascular Disorders

Clinical presentations of cardiovascular disorders can range from the absence of symptoms to more traditional ones, such as patients with a steady angina pain associated with myocardial infarction or those who have had a severe cerebrovascular accident and present with suddenly focused neurological impairments (52, 53). Historically, angina, or pain beneath the sternum, has been a common symptom of coronary artery disease. Moreover, symptoms including nausea, vomiting, irregular rhythms, profuse perspiration, unconsciousness, or even abrupt death may accompany it (54). The presence of additional chest pain characteristics that indicate a possible cause related to reduced blood flow to the heart include an increase in pain during physical exertion or movement, and a decrease in pain with rest or the use of nitroglycerin medication (55).

Although most individuals with a thoracic aortic aneurysm do not experience any symptoms at first, as the problem increases, symptoms may become apparent. These symptoms can vary in severity, ranging from moderate symptoms like coughing or dysphonia brought on by the compression of surrounding tissues to severe symptoms like sudden, intense back or chest pain brought on by an acute rupture (56). Similarly, it can take a long time to diagnose abdominal aortic aneurysms (AAA) before they unexpectedly burst, resulting in excruciating stomach discomfort or even fainting (57).

To diagnose cardiovascular disease, a thorough physical examination is necessary. Starting with a thorough examination to find warning signs, such as those seen in patients with

degenerative cardiomyopathy or chest pain. A carotid examination must be done with the patient's back raised to a 30-degree angle and while they are in a laying position. This makes it possible to evaluate jugular venous pulsations in the neck, check carotid pulses, and find bruits. An essential part of evaluating cardiovascular disease is evaluating peripheral pulses by bilateral inspection and, when appropriate, comparison (58).

#### 2.7. Evaluation For Cardiovascular Diseases

Diagnosing cardiovascular illness requires a complete medical history and physical examination, with special attention to the cardiovascular system. A more thorough history and physical examination must be performed by the physician if the patient has a history consistent with obesity, a heart attack, decreased functional capacity, dyspnea, intermittent dyspnea at night, fainting or near-fainting, and pain or cramping in the legs. In addition to making a diagnosis based on clinical hypotheses, the primary goal should be to stop the illness from developing by identifying people who have risk factors and taking all appropriate steps to address modifiable risk variables. It is recommended that all patients, beginning at the age of 20, should participate in discussions regarding cardiovascular disease risk factors and undergo lipid analysis (35).

#### 2.8. Treatment for Cardiovascular Diseases

The way that heart disease is managed varies greatly and is contingent upon the specific clinical situation. As an illustration, peripheral vascular disease is treated with angiography, acute ischemic stroke is treated with catheter-directed blood clots, and coronary heart disease patients can have coronary stenting or surgery. Nonetheless, it's critical that people with established CVD receive comprehensive education regarding the importance of secondary protection through altering risk indicators and embracing a healthy lifestyle (35). The primary forms of treatment for cardiovascular problems are medication, exercise, a healthy diet, and heart surgery (6).

#### 2.8.1. Medical Treatment of Cardiovascular Diseases

The use of cardiac medications, such as beta-blockers, statins, aspirin, and angiotensinconverting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, is part of the treatment for secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease (7).

#### 2.8.2. Surgical Procedures For Cardiovascular Diseases

Furthermore, it can be required to perform surgical treatments such as balloon angioplasty, cardiac transplantation, and artificial cardiac surgeries. In addition, medical equipment such as pacemakers, prosthetic valves, and patches for cardiac defect sealing may also be used (2). Significant progress in the field of cardiovascular disease medicine has led to a growing adoption of minimally invasive procedures in operative cardiac operations, which has decreased the death rates related to CVD (7).

However, there are still a number of significant risk factors for postoperative problems after cardiac surgery (8). On the other hand, heart valve issues may be hereditary, develop over time, or result from an infection. The two types of disease symptoms are regurgitation/insufficiency and stenosis. More heart valves are impacted by severe aorta stenosis in older adults in the West than by any other illness. It is associated with a lower quality of life and a higher chance of death. Heart valves can be replaced with biologic or mechanical prostheses (60).

Myocardial revascularization surgery (MRS) and valve replacement or repair are major surgeries that call for immediate postoperatively urgent care. Extracorporeal circulation (ECC) is a widely utilized technique in several types of cardiac surgery. It has the potential to trigger a systemic inflammatory response and release substances that impair coagulation and the immune system. Therefore, patients with long ECC durations are more likely to experience neurological problems (61,62). The brain damage brought on by ECC can have serious consequences, such as decreased self-reliance and a deterioration in general wellbeing. After being released from the hospital, these issues make it difficult to perform daily duties like food and personal hygiene (63).

#### 2.9. Cardiac Surgery

The medical specialty of cardiovascular surgery is devoted to the surgical management of cardiac and thoracic aortic disorders. One way to understand the scope of modern heart surgery is to go back to the late 1800s (64, 65). Heart ischemia-related problems are frequently treated with cardiovascular surgery, including coronary artery bypass grafting. Additionally, it is used to treat valvular heart disease that arises from a variety of causes, including arterial hardening, rheumatism, and inflammation of the heart. Furthermore, it includes heart transplants (64). Heart surgery differs from other types of therapy because advances in techniques and equipment have reduced risks during the healing process and made surgeries safer (66).

Sternotomy is the primary method used in cardiovascular surgery, as seen in Figure: 2.2. Nonetheless, the use of minimally invasive procedures is becoming more and more popular. Following surgery, a sternotomy may affect the lungs (67). The patient is often scheduled for cardiopulmonary bypass surgery, which affects the lungs at the same time (68). After having cardiac surgery, patients frequently spend their first post-operative days in the ICU before being moved to the cardio-thoracic division. Research indicates that the length of hospital stay following a heart procedure is approximately 10 days (69). Following an open heart surgery, the patient is kept under close observation for approximately 48 hours in an ICU as their blood pressure, heart rate, and oxygen saturation levels are continuously tracked. In order to drain blood from the area surrounding the heart and lungs, chest tubes are placed (70). When it comes to relieving ischaemic cardiovascular disease that is accompanied by complex cardiovascular disease, cardiac surgery is one of the options (71).

There is a considerable danger associated with cardiac surgery, both during and after the procedure. It requires a highly qualified group of specialists as well as contemporary medical gear. Apart from the conditions that require cardiac surgery, the post-operative period brings with it a variety of unique pathologies: myocardium, shock, poor heartbeat symptoms, irregular heartbeats, systemic inflammation following cardiopulmonary bypass, and multi-organ involvement leading to kidney damage, stroke, and dyspnea. Cardiology and cardiac surgery have had to adapt as interventional and minimally invasive approaches for treating heart problems have grown in popularity (72).



Figure 2.2: Cardiac surgery room (73).

## 2.9.1. Indications For Cardiac Surgery

The international classes of statistics of diseases and related health problems provides medical classifications that include codes to describe diseases, taking into account both cardiac surgery and interventional cardiovascular procedures. It is significant to remember that for numerous diseases, heart surgery remains the main course of treatment. When managing valvular heart disease, stenotic lesions and regurgitation can be distinguished. Unlike the four-step angiographic grading used in the catheterization laboratory, valvulopathies are typically classified into three stages: mild, moderate, and severe. Medical intervention is necessary when there is substantial regurgitation of the valves, or stenosis. Surgeons can choose to rebuild the affected valve or replace it, depending on its condition (74).

Surgical is necessary for patients experiencing symptoms caused by severe aortic regurgitation. Patients who do not show symptoms but have a reduced the fraction of left-ventricular ejection, or higher leftward ventricle leftover quantities must too receiving surgery. Mitral stenosis mostly arises from rheumatic heart disease, a condition that is seldom in developed nations. The treatment of mitral regurgitate (MR) varies based on its underlying cause (75).

By implanting pacemakers, heart surgery treats a variety of heart rhythm abnormalities. This includes double-chambered systems for atrioventricular blocks of defibrillators for arrhythmic ventricular arrhythmias and heart synchronization therapy for severe cardiac disease. There are two classifications for congenital heart failure: bluish lesion and non-bluish lesion. An effective treatment for anomalies of the ventricular and atrial septum is surgical closure. For the treatment of coronary artery disease, coronary bypass grafting may be a beneficial option (76).

#### 2.9.2. Major Common Types of Cardiac Surgery

Coronary artery bypass grafting: One procedure that is frequently performed to treat ischemic heart disease is coronary artery bypass grafting (77). Revascularization, sometimes referred to as revascularization, is a common surgical procedure that tries to give the arteries and veins a different way to receive blood. Its main goal is to prevent blood clots from forming. This can be accomplished in a few different ways, and the arteries can be taken from different parts of the body (78).

When it comes to symptom relief and prognostication, CABG is a commonly performed major surgery that has proven beneficial for patients with numerous arteries and illness of the left main coronary artery. Even if people are getting older and more precarious, overall results have significantly improved over time, with significant drops in both surgical mortality and perioperative complications. The survival rates at five and ten years are approximately 85% to 95% and 75%, respectively (79).

Indicators or symptoms that point to the possibility of a specific illness or condition. When there are significant blockages in the major coronary artery and/or when percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) has not been successful in clearing the blockages, coronary artery bypass grafting, or CABG, is frequently recommended (80).

Surgery for valve diseases: This is an important sign that you should have cardiac surgery. This procedure deals with a valve's dysfunction or deterioration brought on by inherited or acquired illnesses. Valves can be replaced or repaired using mechanical or bioprosthetic valves. Although mechanical valves are thought to survive longer, patients using them must take anticoagulant medication for the rest of their lives (81).

Patients who have significant aortic stenosis, regurgitate the valve, or have symptoms are patients for aorta valve replacement or repair (AVR). Furthermore, it is performed on patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting or cardiac valve surgery who have minor aortic constriction or regurgitation. If a patient has severe or moderate mitral narrowing heart valve regurgitation, the mitral valves are replaced or repaired. Patients with severe tricuspid failure or mild tricuspid dysfunction who are undergoing heart surgery for other reasons are candidates for tricuspid valve replacement or repair (82).

Congenital heart defects surgery: Congenital heart disorders (CHD) are birth-related structural cardiac defects. They might change the usual blood supply to the heart. Genetic cardiac abnormalities are the more common type of birth anomaly (84). While significant advancements have been made in the surgical and medicinal therapy of congestive heart failure (CHD), many treatments fall short of offering a full recovery. Because of this, some people who survive congestive heart failure (CHD) nevertheless have serious persistent problems with blood flow and electrical conduction, which can have long-term cardiac effects (85).

#### 2.9.3. Complications After Cardiac Surgery

Coronary surgery risk factors and conditions, such as age, sex, length of heart pulmonary bypass, hyperglycemia, obesity, cardiac or renal disease, and abrupt myocardial infarctions, are the main causes of difficulties following heart surgery (86). Cardiac surgery can have a number of postoperative consequences, the most common of which are cardiovascular, neurological, and lung-related.

On the other hand, a stroke is a neurological condition that might appear during the first twenty-four hours following surgery. Asthma, atelectasis, abrupt dyspnea, acute respiratory distress syndrome, and pleural fluid are among the pulmonary consequences (66,67). Moreover, postoperative bleeding is one of the major problems (62). Atria arrhythmia (87), mesenteric ischemia (88), cardiogenic shock (89), kidney failure (87), and infected deep sternal wound (IDSW) (90).

Ten to twenty percent of the nation's hematological derivatives are utilized in heart operations due to bleeding during the procedure, hemorrhaging-related shock, and clotting abnormalities such as heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. Up to 18% of patients who undergo heart surgery get immediate renal injury. Merely 2% of individuals require kidney replacement therapy. According to the international classification of myocardial infarction, a myocardial infarction that develops following cardiac surgery is classified as a type 5 myocardial infarction, which occurs in 5–10% of cases (91,92).

Patients in the postoperative department frequently exhibit fever, edema, and high levels of inflammatory markers. Therefore, it might be difficult to tell the difference between people who have a true illness and people who have sepsis (93). There could be additional information in the time progression. To ascertain whether an infection has occurred, any signs or symptoms that appear the second or third day following the procedure should be looked into very away (94).

#### 2.9.4. Clinical Significance of Heart Operation.

The goals of cardiac surgery are to improve the long-term prognosis, reduce symptoms, prevent the consequences of ischemia, and improve functional abilities (83). Cardiac surgery improves the quality of life for those with heart problems. Improving the patient's functionality and decreasing the severity of their sickness are two aspects of improving their quality of life. However, the complexity of the surgery and the use of cardiac bypass can occasionally lead to complications that need a protracted stay in the intensive care unit and, consequently, a longer duration of bed rest (8,95).

One of the most important aspects of preserving cardiovascular health is cardiac surgery. Because of the epidemiologic shift, the incidence of cardiovascular diseases—which include high blood pressure, atherosclerosis, and associated behavioral risk indicators—is gradually increasing. Cardiovascular surgery costs roughly forty thousand dollars each patient, or one to two percent of US health care spending, for a total of twenty billion dollars. The demand for medical professionals with expertise in cardiology and cardiac surgery will rise (96).

#### **2.10.** Physical Activity

Any movement of the body that is produced by skeletal muscles and requires the expenditure of energy is referred to as physical activity (97). Participation in physical exercise is an

essential lifestyle practice that significantly influences the general cardiovascular well-being of a patient suffering from heart disease (4). A sufficient and regular physical activity regimen reduces the risk of having more cardiac episodes and the need to be hospitalized (18), as well as the symptoms (97, 98, 99), anxiety (99), and development of quality of life (9).

Decreased physical activity was a sign of potential surgical issues. Patients with cardiac problems who did not exercise enough were more likely to experience serious side effects, such as needing repeat surgery, renal failure, cerebrovascular accidents, and wound inflammation. Further studies on physical activity following surgery have demonstrated that people participating in cardiac rehabilitation or exercising under a physical therapist's supervision. Compared to individuals who do not engage, post-heart surgery patients have lower readmission rates, improved functional capacity, and shorter hospital stays (14).

According to the results of a 10-year study (100), people who exercised after surgery had fewer cardiovascular events over a longer length of time and lower death rates. Studies have demonstrated a lower rate of postoperative complications, hospital readmissions, and mortality among patients with heart problems who engage in a regular exercise program and get information on controlling cardiovascular disease risk factors (15). Despite the fact that exercise is crucial for reducing negative effects. Patients' participation in postoperative physical activity has historically decreased after heart surgery (16).

Moreover, in a retrospective review of patients' participation in cardiac rehabilitation following heart surgery (101), 42% of patients did not finish exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation (CR), and 28% never took part in the course of treatment. Therefore, it is crucial to comprehend the factors that influence physical activities for individuals who have undergone heart surgery in order to provide incentives for them to engage in physical activity.

#### 2.11. Life Quality Following Cardiac Surgery

The term of quality of life has gained importance in the fields of social sciences, healthcare, and medicine. It encompasses not only empirical, physiological, or clinical features, but also the patients' subjective accounts of the impact of their medical conditions on other facets of

their lives. This includes their capacity to engage in physical and social activities, find happiness in day-to-day activities, and maintain satisfying connections with others (102).

Increasing survival and quality of life is the main objective of heart surgery (103). It is critical to evaluate functioning both before and after surgery given the knowledge of potential post-operative complications. This aids in our understanding of how the treatment is going and allows us to step in when necessary to avoid functional restrictions (104). Recovery from a heart surgery has a direct impact on one's overall quality of life, particularly in terms of physical health (105).

A 2004 study conducted in Croatia found that, a year after surgery, patients' general health shown a significant increase in half of the psychological and physical aspects of quality of life when compared to their baseline status (106). Additional research revealed an improvement in general health and quality of life following a heart procedure and rehabilitation (107).

## 2.12. Functional Capacity After Cardiac Surgery

Patients functional capacity is observed to significantly decline following cardiac surgery (108). Weaker lung and peripheral muscles, difficulty breathing following an asternotomy, inactivity, pain at the wound site, fatigue, the impression that the work was done too much, and psychological variables like depression and worry are the causes of this (108,109). Capacity of function refers to the body's ability to consume oxygen. The device used to assess functional capacity is the six-minute walk test (109). The 6MWT is a useful and uncomplicated test that evaluates the overall impacts of numerous pathways through activity, including cardiovascular the respiratory, circulatory, neurological, and motor systems; also, the metabolisms of the muscles. It's a submaximal test that allows individuals to pace their actions (110,111).

It has been demonstrated through research by Daniel Da Costa Torres and colleagues (2016) and Claudia Fiorina and colleagues (2007) that people who had coronary artery bypass grafting surgery found the Six-Minute Walk Test to be both feasible and well-tolerated. This was observed on days 7 and 11 following the surgery. Following cardiac surgery, patient

outcomes are greatly impacted by prescribed supervised exercise and independent physical activity regimens (112,113).

Participating in self-directed physical activity following surgery and following prescribed exercise programs reduces the risk of post-operative complications, including pulmonary complications (PPCs) and venous thromboembolism (114). According to what has been said about the limitations and effects of early physical activity after cardiac surgery, physical exercise after heart surgery may be encouraged or inhibited depending on a person's individual characteristics.

Therefore, it is imperative to motivate those who have had cardiac surgery to engage in physical activity after the operation. While many review studies have examined the effects of physical activity on people with heart disease, the majority of these studies have concentrated on people who have undergone cardiac rehabilitation or who have coronary heart disease, myocardial infarction, or any other type of heart illness. As far as review studies go, none that have focused solely on the benefits of early physical activity following heart surgery exist (19).

## **3. METHOD**

#### **3.1 Patients and Study Design**

Total of 100 participants (52 men and 48 women) were enrolled in the study. The current study was conducted at Al-Bitar Center for heart operation in Iraq's Baghdad and data were collected between December 2023 and January 2024.

The Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Health Ministry of Iraq stated that this research was medically appropriate (decision No. 897 from 2023/12/12), (Appendix 1). In all, 110 patients voluntarily participated in this study as participants. The participants are selected during the course of the first seven days following their surgical operation from the operating rooms of the Ibin Al-Bitar center. Ten participants—seven men and three women—were removed from the study after samples were randomly collected because they were unable to pass the 6-MinuteWalk Test. In the final phase, the statistical analysis included 100 patients, 52 of whom were men and 48 of whom were women, whose ages ranged from 18 to 65.

#### 3.1.1 Inclusion Criteria

This research includes patients who received sternotomy-assisted heart surgery. Men and women between the ages of 18 and 65 were involved in the study. Throughout the healing process, participants who were awake, alert, and able to communicate verbally as well as those who could comprehend and correctly complete tests and questions. Individuals who voluntarily agreed to share by filling out permission forms and patients who successfully passed the six-minute walk test.

#### **3.1.2 Exclusion Criteria**

Patients who were younger than 18 years old, older than sixty-five years old or incapable of completing surveys, scales, or the six-minute walk test were excluded from participation. Patients experienced complications after surgery, including atrial arrhythmia, contamination in a deep sternal hole, cerebrovascular accident, or extensive bleeding.
## **3.2. Physical Activity Program**

Any movement of the body that requires the activation of skeletal muscle and consumes energy is referred to as physical activity (10). Moreover, any action that, whether done seated or supine, uses less than or equal to 1.5 metabolic equivalents (MET) of energy (42).

In accordance with earlier research, we created our treatment plan as follows: Postural drainage and breathing exercises are combined with shoulder and neck mobilization on the first and second postoperative day. Breathing exercises, postural drainage, and supervised walking at intervals of 2.5 minutes, as tolerated, up to 10 minutes in the morning, afternoon, and evening, as well as at night, are recommended from 3 to 7 post-operative days. A few representative images can be shown in (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1: Physical activity program.

### **3.3. Demographic and Clinical Information Collection**

On the seventh day following the surgery, we recorded data for each patient: gender, age, marital status, height, weight, body mass index (BMI), history of alcohol and cigarette use, and chronic conditions such as diabetes mellitus, high blood pressure, hypothyroidism, bronchial allergies, high cholesterol, length of stay in the intensive care unit, kind of heart operation, and previous surgeries (Appendix 2).

#### **3.4 Outcome Measurements**

Following their heart surgery, all of the patients filled out questionnaires and other assessments designed to assess their degree of physical activity, overall well-being, and capacity for action. The following questionnaires, tests, and scores were administered to each patient who participated in the surgical seventh day. One tool used for assessing an individual's level of activity is the Short-Form International Physical Activity Questionnaire (SF-IPAQ). To assess quality of life, the Short Form-36 (SF-36) health survey is utilized. The test for measuring functional capacity is the 6-minute walking test (6MWT).

#### 3.4.1 Short Form 36-Item Survey

We used the Arabic version of the "Medical Outcome Study Short Form-36 Items" (MOS SF-36), (117), to quantify HRQoL.With its succinct set of 36 questions, this health survey can accomplish several objectives. Body functioning (BF), role limitations due to physical problems (RP), physical pain (PP), general health (GH), energy, societal functioning (SF), role limitations due to emotional issues (RE), mental health (MH), and one item related to health transition are among the various dimensions of health that are included in the results (118,119). The 36 questions that make up the SF-36 are taken from 21 components. A score is given to each item, which is then totaled and transformed into a scale with 0 indicating poor health and 100 indicating excellent health (119), (Appendix 3).

#### **3.4.2 International Physical Activity Questionnaire**

One of the physical activities was providing the SF-IPAQ to participants. Participants in this questionnaire were asked to indicate how many days and how long they had spent walking or participating in moderate to active activities over the previous seven days (120). They were implemented to assign a suggested MET (metabolic equivalent of task) to each activity.(120). Based on their IPAQ scores, participants were divided into three physical activity stages: high, moderate, and low (121). If a participant did not meet the requirements for low PA stages—which include walking, moderate exercise, or vigorous activity for a certain number of minutes or days per week—they were classified as inactive. On the other hand, people who met the criteria for the moderate or high PA classifications were seen as active (120,121), (Appendix 4).

#### 3.4.3 Six Minute Walking Test

A common, reliable, and safe test that may be utilized to assess a person's functional ability in a variety of medical settings is the 6-minute walking test (91). A 30-meter-wide, unblocked canal was used to achieve this goal. While the individual remained sitting, we monitored their vital signs, which included breathing rate, pulse, diastolic blood pressure, oxygen saturation, and a modified Borg scale for the subjective evaluation of dyspnea (91). For the purpose of the evaluation, participants are instructed to walk a maximum of six minutes. The longest distance walked serves as an indicator of a person's mobility (122). The supervisor may perform additional evaluations once the test is over, such as taking the test's arterial blood pressure, heart rate, and oxygen saturation. The Borg scale will then be used to record the results in order to assess fatigue and breathing problems. The 6MWT is calculated by keeping track of the total distance traveled and the number of completed laps (123). We measured the heart rate, blood pressure, and oxygen exhaustion both before and after the exam. Just as seen in (Figure: 3.2), (Appendix 5).



Figure 3.2: Six minute walk test.

#### 3.4.4. Sample Size Calculation

Sample size was calculated using MedCalc Statistical Software version 20 (MedCalc Software, Ostend, Belgium). The minimum required sample size of is 91 patients. Calculation is guided by medium effect size (F2 = 0.2) with alpha of 0.05, power of 80% and with expected number of predictors of 10. Sample size was calculated based on F tests - Linear multiple regression: Fixed model, R<sup>2</sup> deviation from zero and was increased to 100 to compensate for any withdrawals or loss to follow up (124,125).

#### **3.5. Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was done by SPSS version 28 (IBM Co., Armonk, NY, USA). Numerical data were presented as the mean and standard deviation (SD), compared between two timepoints using Paired t-test. Categorical data were presented as the frequency and percentage. Pearson's correlation coefficient was calculated to estimate the degree of correlation between two quantitative variables. Linear regression analysis was performed to assess different independent factors associated with SF-IPAQ score. A two tailed p value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## 4. RESULTS

This study comprised 100 patients undergoing cardiac surgery, of whom 54%, 38%, and 9% received valve replacement, ASD repair, and CABG surgery, respectively. Among the patients under study, there was a little male majority (52%). BMI varied between 16 and 46.4 kg/m2 with a mean of  $26.82 \pm 5.58$  kg/m2, while age ranged from 18 to 67 years with a mean of  $53.15 \pm 12.29$  years, 92% of our patients were married, and 62% had only completed elementary school, 8% had completed secondary school, and 30% had completed university education. Moreover, 28% and 9% of the population, respectively, were smokers and drinkers. In addition, 58 individuals had hypertension, 41 had diabetes, 59 had hyperlipidemia, and 19 had other illnesses. Patients spent two or three days in the intensive care unit, with a mean stay of  $2.04 \pm 0.2$  days. Remarkably, 54 patients had procedures done in the past. Sternotomies were used for all surgical procedures (Table 4.1), (Figures 4.1-6).

		Ν	%			
Condon	Male	52	52.0			
Genuer	Female	48	48.0			
Age (veers)	Mean ± SD	$53.15\pm12.29$				
rige (jeurs)	Range	18 - 67				
	Mean ± SD	26.82 ± 5.58				
BMI (kg/m <sup>-</sup> )	Range	16 - 46.4				
	Single	8	8.0			
Marital status	Married	92	92.0			
Educational level	Primary	62	62.0			
	Secondary	8	8.0			
	College	30	30.0			
Smoking		28	28.0			
Drinking		9	9.0			
HTN		58	58.0			
DM		41	41.0			
Hyperlipidemia		59	59.0			
Other diseases		19	19.0			
	ASD	9	9.0			
Type of cardiac surgery	Valve replacement	38	38.0			
	CABG	54	54.0			
	Mean ± SD	$2.04\pm0.2$				
Stay period in ICU (days)	Range	2-3				
Old surgery		54	54.0			

 Table 4.1: Baseline characteristics of the studied patients.

BMI: Body mass index, HTN: Hypertension, DM: Diabetes mellitus, ASD: Atrial septal defect, CABG: Coronary artery bypass graft



Figure 4.13: Sex distribution of the studied patients.



Figure 4.14: Marital status of the studied patients.



Figure 4.15: Educational level of the studied patients.



Figure 4.16: Type of surgery performed on the studied patients.



Figure 4.17: Risk factors of the studied patients.



Figure 4.18: The prevalence of old surgeries performed on the studied patients.

As shown in Table 4.10 , the mean SpO2 was 96.92  $\pm$  1.57% before 6MWT which was slightly increased after the test to 97.25  $\pm$  2.04%. However, the mean PR was significantly increased from 87.15  $\pm$  10.39 bpm before the test to 92.16  $\pm$  12.54 bpm after test (p<0.001) and MAP was significantly increased from 91.86  $\pm$  9.4 mmHg to 94.29  $\pm$  10.82 mmHg (p=0.001). As for distance walked in 6 min, it ranged from 150 to 420 m with a mean of 270.05  $\pm$ .

		Total patients (n=100)			
		Before	After	P value	
	Mean ± SD	96.92 ± 1.57	$97.25\pm2.04$		
SpO <sub>2</sub> (%)	Range	92 - 99	90 - 100	0.079	
	Mean ± SD	87.15 ± 10.39	92.16 ± 12.54		
PR (bpm)	Range	63 - 126	50 - 130	<0.001	
	Mean ± SD	91.86 ± 9.4	$94.29 \pm 10.83$		
MAP (mmHg)	Range	66 - 119	68 - 128	0.001	
Distance Walked in 6 min (m)	Mean ± SD	270.05 ± 63.72			
	Range	150 - 420			

Table 4.10: Six-minute walk test for functional capacity assessment of the studied patients.

PR: Pulse rate, MAP: Mean arterial pressure, Statistical significance at p value<0.05

For quality of life, 7 categories were evaluated in SF-36 survey as physical functioning with a mean of  $32.5 \pm 9.25\%$ , energy/fatigue with a mean of  $42.88 \pm 15.05\%$ , emotional well-being with a mean of  $48.11 \pm 11.56\%$ , social functioning with a mean of  $38.49 \pm 15.56\%$ , pain with a mean of  $37.92 \pm 20.84\%$ , general health with a mean of  $52.9 \pm 10.52\%$  and health change with a mean of  $65.95 \pm 12.03\%$ .

		Total patients (n=100)
	Mean ± SD	$32.5\pm9.25$
Physical functioning (%)	Range	10 - 45
	Mean ± SD	42.88 ± 15.05
Energy/fatigue (%)	Range	15 – 78
	Mean ± SD	48.11 ± 11.56
Emotional well-being (%)	Range	28 - 76
	Mean + SD	38 49 + 15 56
Social functioning (%)	Range	13 - 75
	Mean + SD	37 92 + 20 84
Pain (%)	Range	10 - 78
	Mean + SD	52.9 + 10.52
General health (%)		35 - 80
	Mann I SD	65 05 + 12 02
Health change (%)	Mean ± 5D	03.93 ± 12.03
	Kange	50 - 75

Table 4.11: 36-Item Short Form Survey for quality of life assessment of the patients.

As shown in (Table 4.4), (Figure 4.7) patients had a mean walking days a week of  $4.92 \pm 0.27$  with a mean time of  $28.85 \pm 6.15$  minutes. Most patients (63%) evidenced moderate level of physical activity and the remainder had low activity. Moreover, MET amount ranged from 247 to 1000 with a mean of  $541.89 \pm 159.35$ .

		Total patients
		( <b>n=100</b> )
	Mean ± SD	$4.92\pm0.27$
Walking days a week	Range	4 – 5
	Mean ± SD	$28.85\pm 6.15$
Walking time (min)	Range	15 - 50
	Low	37 (37%)
Type of physical activity	Moderate	63 (63%)
	Mean ± SD	541.89 ± 159.35
SF-IPAQ (MET amount)	Range	247 - 1000

**Table 4.12:** Summary of physical activity level among the studied patients.

MET: Metabolic equivalent



Figure 4.19: Type of physical activity among the studied patients.

There was a statistically significant positive correlation between SF-IPAQ score and each of walking days a week (r=0.405, p<0.001) and walking time in minutes (r=0.969, p<0.001). On the other hand, SF-IPAQ score was significantly negatively correlated with age (r=-0.336, p=0.001) and BMI (r=-0.248, p=0.013).

SF-IPAQ score	
r	p value
-0.336	0.001
-0.248	0.013
0.014	0.888
0.405	<0.001
0.969	<0.001
	SF-IPAQ score         r         -0.336         -0.248         0.014         0.405         0.969

Table 4.12: Correlation between SF-IPAQ score and different characteristics of the studied patients.

r: Pearson's correlation coefficient, Statistical significance at p value<0.05

In univariate regression analysis, age, BMI, marital status and HTN were independent predictors of SF-IPAQ score as: Increased age and BMI were significantly associated with decreased SF-IPAQ score, with coefficients (95%CI) of, -4.35 (-6.8 to -1.91) and -7.09 (-12.63 to -1.54) respectively and p values <0.001 and 0.013. In comparison to single patients, the married ones showed significantly lower SF-IPAQ score (coefficient=-127.84, 95%CI: -242.16 to -13.52, p=0.029). Hypertensive patients had significantly lower SF-IPAQ score than the non-hypertensive ones (coefficient=-74.5, 95%CI: -137.14 to -11.86, p=0.02). In multiple regression analysis, increased age and BMI were significantly associated with decreased SF-IPAQ score, with coefficients (95%CI) of, -5.88 (-9.29 to -2.47) and -6.16 (-12.17 to -0.15) respectively and p values of 0.001 and 0.045.

	Univariate			Multivariable		
	Coefficient	95%CI	p value	Coefficient	95%CI	p value
Gender						
Male	Ref			Ref		
Female	-44.21	-107.21 to 18.79	0.167	-59.99	-144.5 to 24.52	0.162
Age (years)	-4.35	-6.8 to -1.91	0.001	-5.88	-9.29 to -2.47	0.001
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-7.09	-12.63 to -1.54	0.013	-6.16	-12.17 to -0.15	0.045
Marital status						
Single	Ref			Ref		
Married	-127.84	-242.16 to -13.52	0.029	-63.97	-184.74 to 56.81	0.295
Educational level						
Primary	Ref			Ref		
Secondary	94.84	-23.29 to 212.97	0.114	-11.47	-151.09 to 128.15	0.871
College	37.96	-31.98 to 107.89	0.284	25.75	-51.31 to 102.81	0.508
Smoking	6.78	-63.99 to 77.56	0.85	-12.09	-100.21 to 76.02	0.786
Drinking	10.08	-100.97 to 121.12	0.857	32.4	-90.68 to 155.49	0.602
HTN	-74.5	-137.14 to -11.86	0.02	-43.13	-120.91 to 34.65	0.273
DM	-19.11	-83.62 to 45.4	0.558	18.18	-67.6 to 103.97	0.674
Hyperlipidemia	-21.82	-86.29 to 42.66	0.504	8.06	-129.99 to 146.11	0.908
Other diseases	-5.48	-86.49 to 75.53	0.894	49.6	-44.45 to 143.65	0.297
Type of cardiac surgery	ÿ					
ASD	71.07	-39.08 to 181.21	0.203	-55.26	-414.23 to 303.72	0.76
CABG	-27.95	-91.48 to 35.58	0.385	3.69	-335.93 to 343.3	0.983
Valve replacement	7.23	-58.23 to 72.7	0.827	-12.76	-336.85 to 311.32	0.938
ICU stay (days)	11.58	-150.6 to 173.76	0.888	9.14	-151.93 to 170.2	0.91
Old surgery	-33.63	-97.04 to 29.79	0.295	4.64	-69.15 to 78.44	0.901

**Table 4.13:** Linear regression analysis for factors associated with SF-IPAQ score among the studied patients.

CI: Confidence Interval, Statistical significance at p value<0.05

As shown in Table 4.14, there was a statistically significant correlation between SF-IPAQ score and all the categories of SF-36 score, positive with physical functioning (r=0.803, p<0.001), energy/fatigue (r=0.772, p<0.001), emotional well-being (r=0.647, p<0.001), social functioning (r=0.491, p<0.001), general health (r=0.657, p<0.001) and health change (r=0.782, p<0.001) while negative with pain score (r=-0.798, p<0.001).

SF-IPAQ score	
r	p value
0.803	<0.001
0.772	<0.001
0.647	<0.001
0.491	<0.001
-0.798	<0.001
0.657	<0.001
0.782	<0.001
	SF-IPAQ score         r         0.803         0.772         0.647         0.491         -0.798         0.657         0.782

 Table 4.15: Correlation between SF-IPAQ score and categories of SF-36 score.

r: Pearson's correlation coefficient, Statistical significance at p value<0.05

Our univariate regression analysis revealed that all the categories of SF-36 score were significantly associated with SF-IPAQ score as:

Each 1 unit increase in physical functioning, energy/fatigue, emotional well-being, social functioning , general health and health change scores resulted in increasing SF-IPAQ score, respectively by, 1383.76 (95%CI: 1178.2 to 1589.32), 817.63 (95%CI: 682.69 to 952.56), 892.2 (95%CI: 681.56 to 1102.85), 503.35 (95%CI: 324.54 to 682.15), 995.79 (95%CI: 767.02 to 1224.56) and 1036.25 (95%CI: 870.95 to 1201.55) with P<0.001. Conversely, each 1 unit increase in pain score resulted in decreasing SF-IPAQ score by -610.13 (95%CI: -702.56 to -517.7) with p<0.001.

Based on multiple regression analysis, social functioning, pain and health change scores were the only ones significantly associated with SF-IPAQ score; with every 1 unit increase in social functioning and health change scores, SF-IPAQ score increased by 157.62 (95%CI: 42.58 to

272.67) and 266.45 (95%CI: 51.08 to 481.82) respectively, with p values of 0.008 and 0.016. On the other hand, each 1 unit increase in pain score resulted in decreasing SF-IPAQ score by 269.43 (95%CI: -384.9 to -153.97) with p<0.001.

Table 4.16: Linear regression and	alysis for the association	n of SF-IPAQ score w	ith categories of SF-36
score.			

	Univariate			Multivariable		
	Coefficient	95%CI	P value	Coefficient	95%CI	P value
Physical functioning (%)	1383.76	1178.2 to 1589.32	<0.001	329.22	-15.65 to 674.08	0.061
Energy/fatigue (%)	817.63	682.69 to 952.56	< 0.001	168.84	-24.7 to 362.38	0.087
Emotional well-being (%)	892.2	681.56 to 1102.85	<0.001	111.35	-81.59 to 304.29	0.255
Social functioning (%)	503.35	324.54 to 682.15	<0.001	157.62	42.58 to 272.67	0.008
Pain (%)	-610.13	-702.56 to -517.7	< 0.001	-269.43	-384.9 to -153.97	< 0.001
General health (%)	995.79	767.02 to 1224.56	< 0.001	-100.97	-329.12 to 127.18	0.382
Health change (%)	1036.25	870.95 to 1201.55	< 0.001	266.45	51.08 to 481.82	0.016

CI: Confidence Interval, Statistical significance at p value<0.05

Before 6MWT, SF-IPAQ score was significantly positively correlated with SpO2 (r=0.247, p=0.013) and negatively correlated with MAP (r=-0.236, p=0.018). Moreover, there was a significant positive correlation between SF-IPAQ score and distance walked in 6 minutes (r=0.839, p<0.001).

	SF-IPAQ score	
	r	p value
Before 6MWT		
SpO <sub>2</sub> (%)	0.247	0.013
PR (bpm)	0.082	0.42
MAP (mmHg)	-0.236	0.018
After 6MWT		
SpO <sub>2</sub> (%)	0.167	0.097
PR (bpm)	0.007	0.946
MAP (mmHg)	-0.161	0.109
Distance Walked in 6 min (m)	0.839	<0.001

Table 4.17: Correlation between SF-IPAQ score and 6MWT score.

r: Pearson's correlation coefficient, Statistical significance at p value<0.05

In simple regression analysis, distance walked in 6 minutes was significantly associated with SF-IPAQ score (p<0.001) as it increased by 2.1 (95%CI: 1.82 to 2.37) with every 1 unit increase in the distance.

Likewise in multiple regression analysis, distance walked in 6 minutes was significantly associated with SF-IPAQ score (p<0.001) as it increased by 2.12 (95%CI: 1.83 to 2.4) with every 1 unit increase in the distance (Table 4.10), (Figures 4.8-12).

	Univariate			Multivariable		
	Coefficient	95%CI	P value	Coefficient	95%CI	P value
After 6MWT						
SpO <sub>2</sub> (%)	13.04	-2.42 to 28.51	0.097	1.76	-7.28 to 10.79	0.7
PR (bpm)	0.09	-2.46 to 2.64	0.946	-0.52	-1.98 to 0.94	0.484
MAP (mmHg)	-2.37	-5.28 to 0.54	0.109	0.65	-1.11 to 2.41	0.466
Distance Walked in 6 min (m)	2.1	1.82 to 2.37	<0.001	2.12	1.83 to 2.4	<0.001

Table 4.18: Linear regression analysis for the association of SF-IPAQ score with 6MWT score.

CI: Confidence Interval, Statistical significance at p value<0.05



Figure 4.20: Scatter plot demonstrating the correlation between energy/fatigue score and MET amount.



Figure 4.21: Scatter plot demonstrating the correlation between social functioning score and MET amount.



Figure 4.22: Scatter plot demonstrating the correlation between pain score and MET amount.



Figure 4.23: Scatter plot demonstrating the correlation between general health score and MET amount.



Figure 4.24: Scatter plot demonstrating the correlation between health change score and SF-IPAQ amount.

## **5. DISCUSSION**

In the present study, we examined the association between functional capacity and quality of life in patients who had just undergone cardiac surgery, as well as physical activity, as assessed by the SF-IPAQ. The findings of this study have demonstrated that there is a statistically significant and associational correlation between functional capacity and physical activity, as well as between physical activity and quality of life.

Age, body mass index (BMI), marital status, and high blood pressure (HbP) were among the variables that were demonstrated to be independent predictors of SF-IPAQ score: Increased age and BMI were significantly correlated with a decline in SF-IPAQ score (p values less than 0.001 and 0.013, respectively). When comparing married participants to single participants, the married participants' SF-IPAQ scores were significantly lower. Compared to people without hypertension, those with hypertension scored significantly lower on the SF-IPAQ. Furthermore, our data show a correlation between increased physical activity and enhanced functional capacity and quality of life. This was the situation for the patients in this study who made up 37% of the total with low levels of physical activity and 63% with moderate levels. Our study's conclusions demonstrated a statistically significant relationship between the SF-IPAQ score and each of the quality of life subscale categories. The SF-IPAQ score had a negative correlation with pain and a positive correlation with energy/fatigue, social functioning, general health, emotional well-being, and physical functioning.

Conversely, the SF-IPAQ score increased in response to increases in the scores for energy/fatigue, social functioning, general health, physical functioning, emotional well-being, and health change. Conversely, an increase in the pain level was accompanied by a corresponding decrease in the SF-IPAQ score. Based on our search of the pertinent literature, we were unable to discover any studies that looked into the relationship between the post-heart operation score on the SF-IPAQ and the score on the SF-36 subscale. Taking this into consideration, we compare a number of our findings—such as the SF-36 subscale and SF-IPAQ scores—with those of earlier research conducted after heart surgery that employed alternative metrics to evaluate the connection between pain and physical activity. Bond et al. (126) found a strong and statistically significant correlation between the quality of

life and the return of physical activity within thirty days after cardiac surgery. It was found that there was a direct association between this correlation and life quality. Despite this, our study's subscale scores for the SF-36 and SF-IPAQ were evaluated on the seventh day after heart surgery.

On the other hand, their research assessed quality of life thirty days following surgical operations using the Quality of Life in Cardiovascular Surgery Questionnaire (QLCS). According to Markou et al. (127), there had been gains in every area for both physical activity and quality of life; however, the degree of these increases varied among the three research groups. Group C shows no discernible improvement in PA, while groups B and A both exhibit significant increases. While groups B and C each demonstrate improvement in two of the domains, group A exhibits significant improvement in all five quality of life dimensions.

This was consistent with the results of our experiment even though the scales they utilized in their study were different from ours. According to Firouzabadi MG et al. (128), all categories of the quality of life components demonstrated improvement after the intervention. The average scores of every quality of life component before and after physical activity in the intervention group showed a statistically significant difference. One and four months following their release from surgical procedure sessions, the control group's average scores for the seven quality of life components did not show any statistically significant differences.

Whenever it came to the assessment of physical activity and quality of life in one group on the seventh day following surgery, our results in sync with theirs. On the other hand, their study evaluated quality of life and physical activity in two groups in the first and fourth months following surgical procedure discharge.

Over the course of three years, Tessier S et al. (129) observed a correlation between higher levels of physical activity in leisure time and high scores in health-related quality of life aspects. These categories comprised social functioning for women only, vitality for both sexes, mental health, and physical functioning. Every one of these attributes was assessed independently. An hourly increase in the amount of time spent physically during leisure time each week is associated with a 0.17 and 0.39 point increase in the vitality component in men and women, respectively.

Women's mental component scores developed in parallel with their higher physical activity levels during leisure time. While their study examined leisure-time physical activity and quality of life over a three-year period after cardiac surgery, our investigation revealed a positive correlation between increased physical activity and better quality of life during the first week following the procedure. According to our study, there was a slight association between increased physical activity and a better quality of life.

According to Sjöland H et al. (130), there are important relationships between physical activity levels and life satisfaction. The majority of the quality of life subscales showed significant correlations with physical activity, however these correlations' amplitudes were either mild or moderate. It was discovered that the dimensions that represented physical capacity had the highest correlation coefficients.

Despite the fact that our surveys were different, these results agreed with ours. The quality of life of the individuals was evaluated using the physical activity score, the Nottingham health profile, and the psychological general well-being measure in this study. After implementing a home-based intervention physical activity program, Lie I et al. (131) found that there were significant improvements for most subscales of health-related quality of life in both groups of patients who had undergone heart surgery at the 6-week and 6-month follow-up. However, in terms of these improvements, there was no discernible difference between the groups.

This study's results were relatively similar to our own, which looked at patients the seventh day following surgery and discovered significant gains in physical activity and quality of life. According to Andrew D et al.'s study (132), there were no appreciable variations in the intervention groups' health-related quality of life at the time of hospital discharge. These results contrasted with those obtained for the SF-36 subscales score, which showed that patients who had heart surgery had higher SF-36 subscale scores in correlation with a higher SF-IPAQ score. This resulted from the fact that the two studies' therapeutic regimens were dissimilar.

Our research revealed a significant relationship between the increasing 6MWT scores and a significantly higher SF-IPAQ score for the patient after cardiac surgery. The 6MWT was used to assess the functional capacity. We decided to discuss the relationship between functional

capacity and physical activity using a variety of scales in a number of studies that were conducted after cardiac surgical procedures because we were unable to locate studies that were comparable to our own and that discussed the relationship between functional capacity and physical activity by combining the scores from the 6MWT and the SF-IPAQ.

According to Fiorina et al. (133), the 6MWT's distance traveled was a reliable indicator of a person's functional capacity. The subgroup of patients who had performed the 6MWT more than once was shown to have walked a significantly longer distance after completing the cardiac rehabilitation program after the cardiac operation. Our study's findings, which showed that participants' physical activity levels improved during the postoperative first week of heart surgery and had increased 6MWT marks, were in line with those of their study, which assessed patients who had participated in a heart rehabilitation program 15 days after surgery.

Furthermore, the results of this study demonstrated that higher oxygen saturation levels following six minutes of standing were associated with higher SF-IPAQ scores in patients who had recently undergone surgery. According to Giacchi et al. (134), increased physical function is thought to be associated with a higher oxygen saturation level that is maintained throughout the mobilization process. This was supported by the findings of our study, which showed that a higher degree of physical activity was linked to an increase in oxygen saturation measured by how far a patient could walk in six minutes.

This was consistent despite the fact our study used the SF-IPAQ to measure physical activity and the 6MWT to measure functional status, while their study used the SPPB test to assess physical function. According to Mungovan et al. (14), participating in physical exercise under a physiotherapist's supervision improves postoperative physiological functional ability and reduces hospital stay duration following heart surgery operations. Moreover, this was consistent with our study's conclusions.

After being discharged from the hospital, the walking and walking/breathing exercise groups had significantly greater six-minute walking distances than the standard intervention group, as shown by Hirschhorn A et al. (116). Walking at a modest pace under the supervision of a physiotherapist during the hospital stay following coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG)

may improve functional ability when the patient leaves the facility. This was consistent with the results that we discovered.

Mohamed et al. (135) demonstrated that patients who had heart surgery experienced a significant improvement in hemodynamic variables and the 6-minute walk distance when they participated in the nurse exercise program, which included early physical activity (such as deep breathing, incentive spirometer, coughing, and early walking). The study also found highly statistically significant differences between the two groups regarding the total distance walked after the 12-week mark following discharge, in addition to the results showing an increase in the study group's total distance walked compared to the control group.

This was consistent with the results of our study, which showed a relationship between increased physical activity and improved functional capacity. This was the case even though our study, which examined variables after the 12th week after discharge in two groups, indicated an association between functional ability and physical activity on the seventh day after surgical procedures in one group.

According to Andrew D et al. (132), once the patients were allowed to walk six minutes from the hospital, there were no discernible changes between the intervention groups. These results contrasted with those we found on the 6MWT score, which showed that patients who had cardiac surgery had higher 6MWT scores in relation to a higher SF-IPAQ score. The reason for this discrepancy was the distinct therapy program employed in the two experiments.

A possible limitation of our study is that we only evaluated data from the first seven days following surgery. Longer follow-up periods in studies on this subject will therefore strengthen the conclusions reached.

# 6. CONCLUSION

Based on the findings of this study, we determined the following conclusions:

1. Post-operative cardiac patients' quality of life improved with early physical activity.

2. Patients who engaged in early physical activity following heart surgery had improved functional ability.

3. Patients should be encouraged to engage in early physical activity following cardiac surgery in order to improve their functional abilities and quality of life. Early physical activity is crucial after cardiac surgery and has positive effects on both categories.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Farley A, McLafferty E, Hendry C. Cells, tissues, organs and systems. Nurs Stand (through 2013). 2012;26(52):40.
- Kaptoge S, Pennells L, De Bacquer D, Cooney MT, Kavousi M, Stevens G, et al. World Health Organization cardiovascular disease risk charts: revised models to estimate risk in 21 global regions. Lancet Glob Heal. 2019;7(10):e1332–45.
- Epstein FH. The epidemiology of coronary heart disease: A review. J Chronic Dis. 1965;18(8):735–74.
- Benjamin EJ, Muntner P, Alonso A, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics—2019 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2019;139(10):e56–528.
- 5. Curry SJ, Krist AH, Owens DK, Barry MJ, Caughey AB, Davidson KW, et al. Risk assessment for cardiovascular disease with nontraditional risk factors: US preventive services task force recommendation statement. Jama. 2018;320(3):272–80.
- de Albuquerque Silva B, do Nascimento Calles AC, de Faria Freire R. Perfil dos pacientes em pós-operatório de cirurgia de revascularização do miocárdio em um hospital de Maceió. Cad Grad Biológicas e da Saúde-UNIT-ALAGOAS. 2014;2(2):67– 76.
- Leitz KH, Ziemer G. The history of cardiac surgery. Card Surg Oper Hear Gt Vessel Adults Child. 2017;3–31.
- 8. Ball L, Costantino F, Pelosi P. Postoperative complications of patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2016;22(4):386–92.
- 9. De Smedt D, Clays E, Annemans L, Doyle F, Kotseva K, Pająk A, et al. Health related quality of life in coronary patients and its association with their cardiovascular risk profile: results from the EUROASPIRE III survey. Int J Cardiol. 2013;168(2):898–903.
- Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep. 1985;100(2):126.
- 11. Nery RM, Barbisan JN, Mahmud MI. Influence of the practice physical activity in the

coronary artery bypass graft surgery results. Brazilian J Cardiovasc Surg. 2007;22:297–302.

- Nes LS, Liu H, Patten CA, Rausch SM, Sloan JA, Garces YI, et al. Physical activity level and quality of life in long term lung cancer survivors. Lung Cancer. 2012;77(3):611–6.
- van Laar C, TImman ST, Noyez L. Decreased physical activity is a predictor for a complicated recovery post cardiac surgery. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2017;15(1. van Laar C, TImman ST, Noyez L. Decreased physical activity is a predictor for a complicated recovery post cardiac surgery. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2017;15:1–7.):1–7.
- 14. Mungovan SF, Singh P, Gass GC, Smart NA, Hirschhorn AD. Effect of physical activity in the first five days after cardiac surgery. J Rehabil Med. 2017;49(1):71–7.
- Hedbäck B, Perk J, Hörnblad M, Ohlsson U. Cardiac rehabilitation after coronary artery bypass surgery: 10-year results on mortality, morbidity and readmissions to hospital. J Cardiovasc Risk. 2001;8(3):153–8.
- 16. Griffo R, Ambrosetti M, Tramarin R, Fattirolli F, Temporelli PL, Vestri AR, et al. Effective secondary prevention through cardiac rehabilitation after coronary revascularization and predictors of poor adherence to lifestyle modification and medication. Results of the ICAROS Survey. Int J Cardiol. 2013;167(4):1390–5.
- Brocks Y, Zittermann A, Grisse D, Schmid-Ott G, Stock-Gießendanner S, Schulz U, et al. Adherence of heart transplant recipients to prescribed medication and recommended lifestyle habits: a single-center experience. Prog Transplant. 2017;27(2):160–6.
- Anderson L, Thompson DR, Oldridge N, Zwisler A, Rees K, Martin N, et al. Exercisebased cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;(1).
- 19. Bott J. Guidelines for Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programs. 1999.
- 20. Kenney WL, Wilmore JH, Costill DL. Physiology of sport and exercise. Human kinetics; 2021.
- Rane A, Jain R, Bherde V, Nair P, Das P. CHAPTER EIGHTEEN A Virtual Book based on Human Anatomy. In: Applications of Machine intelligence in Engineering: Proceedings of 2nd Global Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Applications

(GCAIA, 2021), September 8-10, 2021, Jaipur, India. CRC Press; 2022.

- 22. Ansari MA. The Human Anatomy of Heart: A Review literature. 2021;
- Sievers HH, Hemmer W, Beyersdorf F, Moritz A, Moosdorf R, Lichtenberg A, et al. The everyday used nomenclature of the aortic root components: the tower of Babel? Eur J cardio-thoracic Surg. 2012;41(3):478–82.
- Arnaout R, Curran L, Zhao Y, Levine JC, Chinn E, Moon-Grady AJ. An ensemble of neural networks provides expert-level prenatal detection of complex congenital heart disease. Nat Med. 2021;27(5):882–91.
- Parsa CJ, Shaw LK, Rankin JS, Daneshmand MA, Gaca JG, Milano CA, et al. Twentyfive-year outcomes after multiple internal thoracic artery bypass. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2013;145(4):970–5.
- 26. Puskas JD, Yanagawa B, Taggart DP. Advancing the state of the art in surgical coronary revascularization. Ann Thorac Surg. 2016;101(2):419–21.
- 27. Engdal, Vilde Arntzen, et al. "State of the heart: Anatomical annotation and assessment of morphological cardiac variation in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.)." *Aquaculture* 578 (2024): 740046.
- Mendis S, Puska P, Norrving B editors, Organization WH. Global atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control. World Health Organization; 2011.
- 29. Lim SS, Gaziano TA, Gakidou E, Reddy KS, Farzadfar F, Lozano R, et al. Prevention of cardiovascular disease in high-risk individuals in low-income and middle-income countries: health effects and costs. Lancet. 2007;370(9604):2054–62.
- 30. English KL, Paddon-Jones D. Protecting muscle mass and function in older adults during bed rest. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2010;13(1):34.
- Cameron S, Ball I, Cepinskas G, Choong K, Doherty TJ, Ellis CG, et al. Early mobilization in the critical care unit: A review of adult and pediatric literature. J Crit Care. 2015;30(4):664–72.
- 32. R Core Team R. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. 2013;
- 33. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ôunpuu S, Dans T, Avezum A, Lanas F, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. Lancet. 2004;364(9438):937–52.
- 34. Lloyd-Jones DM, Hong Y, Labarthe D, Mozaffarian D, Appel LJ, Van Horn L, et al.

Defining and setting national goals for cardiovascular health promotion and disease reduction: the American Heart Association's strategic Impact Goal through 2020 and beyond. Circulation. 2010;121(4):586–613.

- 35. Greenland P, Alpert JS, Beller GA, Benjamin EJ, Budoff MJ, Fayad ZA, et al. 2010 ACCF/AHA guideline for assessment of cardiovascular risk in asymptomatic adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines developed in collaboration with the American Socie. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;56(25):e50–103.
- 36. Fox CS, Pencina MJ, Wilson PWF, Paynter NP, Vasan RS, D'Agostino Sr RB. Lifetime risk of cardiovascular disease among individuals with and without diabetes stratified by obesity status in the Framingham heart study. Diabetes Care. 2008;31(8):1582–4.
- 37. Goff Jr DC, Lloyd-Jones DM, Bennett G, Coady S, D'agostino RB, Gibbons R, et al. 2013 ACC/AHA guideline on the assessment of cardiovascular risk: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation. 2014;129(25\_suppl\_2):S49–73.
- Savji N, Rockman CB, Skolnick AH, Guo Y, Adelman MA, Riles T, et al. Association between advanced age and vascular disease in different arterial territories: a population database of over 3.6 million subjects. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(16):1736–43.
- Bowry ADK, Lewey J, Dugani SB, Choudhry NK. The burden of cardiovascular disease in low-and middle-income countries: epidemiology and management. Can J Cardiol. 2015;31(9):1151–9.
- Blalock A, Taussig HB. The surgical treatment of malformations of the heart: in which there is pulmonary stenosis or pulmonary atresia. J Am Med Assoc. 1945;128(3):189–202.
- 41. Dunbar SB, Khavjou OA, Bakas T, Hunt G, Kirch RA, Leib AR, et al. Projected costs of informal caregiving for cardiovascular disease: 2015 to 2035: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2018;137(19):e558–77.
- 42. Benjak T, Mihel S, Rodin U, Štefancic V, Trajanoski A. Morbidity and causes of death in the elderly population. Croat Heal Stat Yearb. 2018;337–50.
- 43. Guthold R, Stevens GA, Riley LM, Bull FC. Worldwide trends in insufficient physical

activity from 2001 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 358 population-based surveys with  $1 \cdot 9$  million participants. lancet Glob Heal. 2018;6(10):e1077–86.

- 44. Yorke J, Wallis M, McLean B. Patients' perceptions of pain management after cardiac surgery in an Australian critical care unit. Hear Lung. 2004;33(1):33–41.
- 45. Kervan Ü. Distribution and service quality of the cardiovascular surgery clinics in Turkey. Turkish J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2011;19(4).
- 46. Committee for Scientific Affairs TJA for TS, Masuda M, Okumura M, Doki Y, Endo S, Hirata Y, et al. Thoracic and cardiovascular surgery in Japan during 2014: annual report by The Japanese Association for Thoracic Surgery. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2016;64:665–97.
- 47. Schocken DD, Benjamin EJ, Fonarow GC, Krumholz HM, Levy D, Mensah GA, et al. Prevention of heart failure: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Councils on epidemiology and prevention, clinical cardiology, cardiovascular nursing, and high blood pressure research; Quality of Care and Outcomes Research Interdisc. Circulation. 2008;117(19):2544–65.
- 48. Libby P, Ridker PM, Hansson GK. Progress and challenges in translating the biology of atherosclerosis. Nature. 2011;473(7347):317–25.
- 49. Davies MJ, Woolf N, Rowles PM, Pepper J. Morphology of the endothelium over atherosclerotic plaques in human coronary arteries. Heart. 1988;60(6):459–64.
- 50. Sata M, Saiura A, Kunisato A, Tojo A, Okada S, Tokuhisa T, et al. Hematopoietic stem cells differentiate into vascular cells that participate in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Nat Med. 2002;8(4):403–9.
- 51. Stary HC, Chandler AB, Dinsmore RE, Fuster V, Glagov S, Insull Jr W, et al. A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis: a report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Circulation. 1995;92(5):1355–74.
- 52. Thaulow E, Erikssen J, Sandvik L, Erikssen G, Jorgensen L, Colin PF. Initial clinical presentation of cardiac disease in asymptomatic men with silent myocardial ischemia and angiographically documented coronary artery disease (the Oslo Ischemia Study). Am J Cardiol. 1993;72(9):629–33.
- 53. Yew KS, Cheng E. Acute stroke diagnosis. Am Fam Physician. 2009;80(1):33.

- Kreatsoulas C, Shannon HS, Giacomini M, Velianou JL, Anand SS. Reconstructing angina: cardiac symptoms are the same in women and men. JAMA Intern Med. 2013;173(9):829–33.
- 55. Swap CJ, Nagurney JT. Value and limitations of chest pain history in the evaluation of patients with suspected acute coronary syndromes. Jama. 2005;294(20):2623–9.
- Harris C, Croce B, Cao C. Thoracic aortic aneurysm. Ann Cardiothorac Surg. 2016;5(4):407.
- 57. Aggarwal S, Qamar A, Sharma V, Sharma A. Abdominal aortic aneurysm: A comprehensive review. Exp Clin Cardiol. 2011;16(1):11.
- Walker HK. The origins of the history and physical examination. Clin Methods Hist Phys Lab Exam 3rd Ed. 1990;
- 59. Kavousi M, Leening MJG, Nanchen D, Greenland P, Graham IM, Steyerberg EW, et al. Comparison of application of the ACC/AHA guidelines, Adult Treatment Panel III guidelines, and European Society of Cardiology guidelines for cardiovascular disease prevention in a European cohort. Jama. 2014;311(14):1416–23.
- Lai KSP, Herrmann N, Saleem M, Lanctôt KL. Cognitive outcomes following transcatheter aortic valve implantation: a systematic review. Cardiovasc Psychiatry Neurol. 2015;2015.
- Matheus GB, Dragosavac D, Trevisan P, Costa CE da, Lopes MM, Ribeiro GC de A. Treinamento muscular melhora o volume corrente e a capacidade vital no pósoperatório de revascularização do miocárdio. Brazilian J Cardiovasc Surg. 2012;27:362–9.
- 62. Fonseca L, Vieira FN, Azzolin KDO. Fatores associados ao tempo de ventilação mecânica no pós-operatório de cirurgia cardíaca. Rev gaúcha Enferm. 2014;35:67–72.
- Carrazedo MA, Accetta GG, Pinto RASR, Costa FAA da. Avaliação cognitiva em pacientes submetidos à revascularização cirúrgica cardíaca. Rev bras cardiol(Impr). 2014;254–9.
- Alejandro Aris MD. Francisco Romero, the first heart surgeon. Ann Thorac Surg. 1997;64(3):870–1.
- Braile DM, Godoy MF de. History of heart surgery in the world. Brazilian J Cardiovasc Surg. 2012;27:125–36.

- Soares GMT, Ferreira D, Gonçalves MPC, Alves TG de S, David FL, Henriques KM de C, et al. Prevalence of major postoperative complications in cardiac surgery. Rev Bras Cardiol. 2011;24(3):139–46.
- Kristjánsdóttir Á, Ragnarsdóttir M, Hannesson P, Beck HJ, Torfason B. Respiratory movements are altered three months and one year following cardiac surgery. Scand Cardiovasc J. 2004;38(2):98–103.
- Apostolakis EE, Koletsis EN, Baikoussis NG, Siminelakis SN, Papadopoulos GS. Strategies to prevent intraoperative lung injury during cardiopulmonary bypass. J Cardiothorac Surg. 2010;5(1):1–9.
- Westerdahl E, Urell C, Jonsson M, Bryngelsson L, Hedenström H, Emtner M. Deep breathing exercises performed 2 months following cardiac surgery: a randomized controlled trial. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2014;34(1):34–42.
- Lindsay GM, Smith LN, Hanlon P, Wheatley DJ. Coronary artery disease patients' perception of their health and expectations of benefit following coronary artery bypass grafting. J Adv Nurs. 2000;32(6):1412–21.
- Beck CS. The development of a new blood supply to the heart by operation. Ann Surg. 1935;102(5):801.
- Nguyen TC, George I. Beyond the hammer: the future of cardiothoracic surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2015;149(3):675–7.
- 73. Https://www.ahdubai.com/ar/services/heart-and-vascular-center/open-heart-surgery. Heart Operation.
- 74. Maganti K, Rigolin VH, Sarano ME, Bonow RO. Valvular heart disease: diagnosis and management. In: Mayo Clinic Proceedings. Elsevier; 2010. p. 483–500.
- 75. O'Gara PT, Grayburn PA, Badhwar V, Afonso LC, Carroll JD, Elmariah S, et al. 2017 ACC expert consensus decision pathway on the management of mitral regurgitation: a report of the American College of Cardiology Task Force on Expert Consensus Decision Pathways. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;70(19):2421–49.
- Mohammadi S, Kalavrouziotis D, Dagenais F, Voisine P, Charbonneau E. Completeness of revascularization and survival among octogenarians with triple-vessel disease. Ann Thorac Surg. 2012;93(5):1432–7.
- 77. Li B, Mao B, Feng Y, Liu J, Zhao Z, Duan M, et al. The hemodynamic mechanism of

FFR-guided coronary artery bypass grafting. Front Physiol. 2021;12:503687.

- Alexander JH, Smith PK. Coronary-artery bypass grafting. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(20):1954–64.
- 79. Head SJ, Milojevic M, Taggart DP, Puskas JD. Current practice of state-of-the-art surgical coronary revascularization. Circulation. 2017;136(14):1331–45.
- 80. Bachar BJ, Manna B. Coronary artery bypass graft. 2018;
- Stout KK, Otto CM. Indications for aortic valve replacement in aortic stenosis. J Intensive Care Med. 2007;22(1):14–25.
- 82. Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Chatterjee K, de Leon AC, Faxon DP, Freed MD, et al. ACC/AHA 2006 practice guidelines for the management of patients with valvular heart disease: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (writing committee to revise the 19. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;48(3):598–675.
- 83. Komilovich, E. B. (2024). CORONARY HEART DISEASE. ANGINA TREATMENT. *Journal of new century innovations*, *46*(1), 95-104.
- Dakkak W, Oliver TI. Ventricular Septal Defect.[Updated 2019 Mar 6]. Stat Pearls [Internet] Treasure Isl StatPearls Publ. 2020;
- Wang T, Chen L, Yang T, Huang P, Wang L, Zhao L, et al. Congenital heart disease and risk of cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Am Heart Assoc. 2019;8(10):e012030.
- Cordeiro ALL, Amorim NM, Andrade PH, Esquivel MS, Guimarães AR, de Melo TA, et al. Physiological Changes from Walking and Time of Stay after Heart Surgery. Int J Cardiovasc Sci. 2015;28(5):480–6.
- Salazar JD, Wityk RJ, Grega MA, Borowicz LM, Doty JR, Petrofski JA, et al. Stroke after cardiac surgery: short-and long-term outcomes. Ann Thorac Surg. 2001;72(4):1195–201.
- 88. McKhann GM, Grega MA, Borowicz Jr LM, Baumgartner WA, Selnes OA. Stroke and encephalopathy after cardiac surgery: an update. Stroke. 2006;37(2):562–71.
- Crosina J, Lerner J, Ho J, Tangri N, Komenda P, Hiebert B, et al. Improving the prediction of cardiac surgery–associated acute kidney injury. Kidney Int reports. 2017;2(2):172–9.

- 90. Yusuf E, Chan M, Renz N, Trampuz A. Current perspectives on diagnosis and management of sternal wound infections. Infect Drug Resist. 2018;961–8.
- Laflamme M, DeMey N, Bouchard D, Carrier M, Demers P, Pellerin M, et al. Management of early postoperative coronary artery bypass graft failure. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2012;14(4):452–6.
- Redfors B, Généreux P, Witzenbichler B, McAndrew T, Diamond J, Huang X, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention of saphenous vein graft. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2017;10(5):e004953.
- Howitt SH, Herring M, Malagon I, McCollum CN, Grant SW. Incidence and outcomes of sepsis after cardiac surgery as defined by the Sepsis-3 guidelines. Br J Anaesth. 2018;120(3):509–16.
- 94. Paternoster G, Guarracino F. Sepsis after cardiac surgery: from pathophysiology to management. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth. 2016;30(3):773–80.
- 95. McIsaac DI, McDonald B, Wong CA, van Walraven C. Long-term survival and resource use in critically ill cardiac surgery patients: a population-based study. Can J Anesth. 2018;65(9):985–95.
- Lee JJ, Park NH, Lee KS, Chee HK, Sim SB, Kim MJ, et al. Projections of demand for cardiovascular surgery and supply of surgeons. Korean J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2016;49(Suppl 1):S37.
- 97. Taylor RS, Brown A, Ebrahim S, Jolliffe J, Noorani H, Rees K, et al. Exercise-based rehabilitation for patients with coronary heart disease: systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Med. 2004;116(10):682–92.
- 98. Højskov IE, Moons P, Egerod I, Olsen PS, Thygesen LC, Hansen NV, et al. Early physical and psycho-educational rehabilitation in patients with coronary artery bypass grafting: A randomized controlled trial. J Rehabil Med. 2019;51(2):136–43.
- 99. Pogosova N, Kotseva K, De Bacquer D, von Känel R, De Smedt D, Bruthans J, et al. Psychosocial risk factors in relation to other cardiovascular risk factors in coronary heart disease: Results from the EUROASPIRE IV survey. A registry from the European Society of Cardiology. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2017;24(13):1371–80.
- Pack QR, Goel K, Lahr BD, Greason KL, Squires RW, Lopez-Jimenez F, et al.
   Participation in cardiac rehabilitation and survival after coronary artery bypass graft

surgery: a community-based study. Circulation. 2013;128(6):590-7.

- 101. Laustsen S, Hjortdal VE, Petersen AK. Predictors for not completing exercise-based rehabilitation following cardiac surgery. Scand Cardiovasc J. 2013;47(6):344–51.
- 102. Perrotti A, Ecarnot F, Monaco F, Dorigo E, Monteleone P, Besch G, et al. Quality of life 10 years after cardiac surgery in adults: a long-term follow-up study. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2019;17(1):1–9.
- 103. Neumann FJ, Sousa-Uva M, Ahlsson A, Alfonso F, Banning AP, Benedetto U, et al.
  2018 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization. Eur Heart J.
  2019;40(2):87–165.
- Ferraz MB. Tradução para o português e validação do questionário para avaliar a capacidade funcional" Stanford Health Assessment Questionaire". 1990;
- 105. Nielsen D, Sellgren J, Ricksten SE. Quality of life after cardiac surgery complicated by multiple organ failure. Crit Care Med. 1997;25(1):52–7.
- Colak Z, Segotic I, Uzun S, Mazar M, Ivancan V, Majeric-Kogler V. Health related quality of life following cardiac surgery—correlation with EuroSCORE. Eur J cardiothoracic Surg. 2008;33(1):72–6.
- 107. Pačarić S, Turk T, Erić I, Orkić Ž, Petek Erić A, Milostić-Srb A, et al. Assessment of the quality of life in patients before and after coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG): a prospective study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(4):1417.
- 108. Redeker NS, Ruggiero JS, Hedges C. Sleep is related to physical function and emotional well-being after cardiac surgery. Nurs Res. 2004;53(3):154–62.
- Cooper KH. A means of assessing maximal oxygen intake: correlation between field and treadmill testing. Jama. 1968;203(3):201–4.
- 110. Arena R, Myers J, Williams MA, Gulati M, Kligfield P, Balady GJ, et al. Assessment of functional capacity in clinical and research settings: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Committee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention of the Council on Clinical Cardiology and the Council on Cardiovascular N. Circulation. 2007;116(3):329–43.
- 111. Fleg JL, Piña IL, Balady GJ, Chaitman BR, Fletcher B, Lavie C, et al. Assessment of functional capacity in clinical and research applications: An advisory from the Committee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention, Council on Clinical
Cardiology, American Heart Association. Circulation. 2000;102(13):1591–7.

- 112. Riebe D, Pescatello LS. Exercise prescription for patients with cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease. ACSM's Guidel Exerc Test Prescr 9th ed Philadelphia Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams Wilkins Heal. 2013;236–59.
- 113. van der Peijl ID, Vlieland TPMV, Versteegh MIM, Lok JJ, Munneke M, Dion RAE. Exercise therapy after coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a randomized comparison of a high and low frequency exercise therapy program. Ann Thorac Surg. 2004;77(5):1535–41.
- 114. Urell C, Emtner M, Hedenström H, Tenling A, Breidenskog M, Westerdahl E. Deep breathing exercises with positive expiratory pressure at a higher rate improve oxygenation in the early period after cardiac surgery—a randomised controlled trial. Eur J cardio-thoracic Surg. 2011;40(1):162–7.
- 115. Herdy AH, Marcchi PLB, Vila A, Tavares C, Collaço J, Niebauer J, et al. Pre-and postoperative cardiopulmonary rehabilitation in hospitalized patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2008;87(9):714–9.
- 116. Hirschhorn AD, Richards D, Mungovan SF, Morris NR, Adams L. Supervised moderate intensity exercise improves distance walked at hospital discharge following coronary artery bypass graft surgery—a randomised controlled trial. Hear Lung Circ. 2008;17(2):129–38.
- 117. Khoudri I, Belayachi J, Dendane T, Abidi K, Madani N, Zekraoui A, et al. Measuring quality of life after intensive care using the Arabic version for Morocco of the EuroQol 5 Dimensions. BMC Res Notes. 2012;5(1):1–8.
- Weissman C. Pulmonary complications after cardiac surgery. In: Seminars in cardiothoracic and vascular anesthesia. Westminster Publications, Inc. 708 Glen Cove Avenue, Glen Head, NY 11545, USA; 2004. p. 185–211.
- Brazier JE, Harper R, Jones NM, O'cathain A, Thomas KJ, Usherwood T, et al. Validating the SF-36 health survey questionnaire: new outcome measure for primary care. Br Med J. 1992;305(6846):160–4.
- 120. Fan M, Lyu J, He P. Chinese guidelines for data processing and analysis concerning the International Physical Activity Questionnaire. Zhonghua liu xing bing xue za zhi=

Zhonghua liuxingbingxue zazhi. 2014;35(8):961–4.

- 121. Brugnara L, Murillo S, Novials A, Rojo-Martínez G, Soriguer F, Goday A, et al. Low physical activity and its association with diabetes and other cardiovascular risk factors: a nationwide, population-based study. PLoS One. 2016;11(8):e0160959.
- 122. Woo MA, Moser DK, Stevenson LW, Stevenson WG. Six-minute walk test and heart rate variability: lack of association in advanced stages of heart failure. Am J Crit Care. 1997;6(5):348–54.
- Laboratories ATSC on PS for CPF. ATS statement: guidelines for the six-minute walk test. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2002;166:111–7.
- 124. Schoonjans F, Zalata A, Depuydt CE, Comhaire FH. MedCalc: a new computer program for medical statistics. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 1995;48(3):257–62.
- 125. Hastie T, Venske-Parker S, Aps JKM. Impact of viewing conditions on the performance assessment of different computer monitors used for dental diagnostics. Imaging Sci Dent. 2021;51(2):137.
- 126. Bond MMK, Oliveira JLR de, Souza LCB de, Farsky PS, Amato VL, Togna DJ Della, et al. Quality of life in cardiovascular surgery: elaboration and initial internal validation of a quality of life questionnaire. Brazilian J Cardiovasc Surg. 2018;33:476–82.
- 127. Markou ALP, van der Windt A, van Swieten HA, Noyez L. Changes in quality of life, physical activity, and symptomatic status one year after myocardial revascularization for stable angina. Eur J cardio-thoracic Surg. 2008;34(5):1009–15.
- 128. Firouzabadi MG, Sherafat A, Vafaeenasab M. Effect of physical activity on the life quality of coronary artery bypass graft patients. J Med Life. 2014;7(2):260.
- 129. Tessier S, Vuillemin A, Bertrais S, Boini S, Le Bihan E, Oppert JM, et al. Association between leisure-time physical activity and health-related quality of life changes over time. Prev Med (Baltim). 2007;44(3):202–8.
- Sjöland H, Wiklund I, Caidahl K, Albertsson P, Herlitz J. Relationship between quality of life and exercise test findings after coronary artery bypass surgery. Int J Cardiol. 1995;51(3):221–32.
- 131. Lie I, Arnesen H, Sandvik L, Hamilton G, Bunch EH. Health-related quality of life after coronary artery bypass grafting. The impact of a randomised controlled home-based

intervention program. Qual Life Res. 2009;18:201-7.

- 132. Hirschhorn AD, Richards DAB, Mungovan SF, Morris NR, Adams L. Does the mode of exercise influence recovery of functional capacity in the early postoperative period after coronary artery bypass graft surgery? A randomized controlled trial. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2012;15(6):995–1003.
- 133. Fiorina C, Vizzardi E, Lorusso R, Maggio M, De Cicco G, Nodari S, et al. The 6-min walking test early after cardiac surgery. Reference values and the effects of rehabilitation programme. Eur J Cardio-thoracic Surg. 2007;32(5):724–9.
- 134. Giacchi M, Nguyen MT, Gaudin J, Bergin M, Collicoat O, Armstrong B, et al. The relationship between cardiorespiratory parameters, mobilisation and physical function following cardiac surgery. Eur J Physiother. 2022;24(6):381–5.
- 135. Mohamed AA, Hassan MS, Mubarak YS, Gamal LM. Effect of nursing exercise protocol on hemodynamics and functional capacity among patients after cardiac surgery. Evidence-Based Nurs Res. 2019;1(3):145–58.

## APPENDICES

**Appx 1. Ethical Committee Approval** 

## SAGLIK BAKANLIGI

## BAGHDAD ALKARH SAĞLIK İDARESİ

## INSAN VE EĞİTİM GELİŞİM DAİRESİ MERKEZİ

## ARAŞTIRMA KURUL

KARAR NO: 897

KARAR TARIHE12.12.2023

## ARAŞTIRMA KURUL KARARI

BAGHDAD/ALKARH SAĞLIK IDARESI DEPARTMANI ARAŞTIRMA KOMITESINCE ARAŞTIRMA TARAFINDAN SUNULAN ARAŞTIRMA PROJESÎ ÎNCELENDÎ NUMARASI(321054).

"EARLY PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND ITS EFFECTS ON FUNCTIONAL CAPACITY AND QUALITY OF LIFE IN POST-SURGERY CARDIAC PATIENTS" ARAŞTIRMACI TARAFINDAN SUNULAN (HUSHAM ABDULATEEF SALMAN) MERKEZ EĞITİM VE İNSAN GELİŞİMİ DEPARTMANI, BİLGİ YÖNETİMİ VE ARAŞTIRMA DEPARTMANINA SUNULMUŞTUR.BAGHDAD ALKARH SAĞLIK İDARESİ TARİH:11.12.2023.

#### KURULUN KARARI:

BU ARAŞTIRMA TEZ PROJESİ KURULUMUZ TARAFINDAN KABUL GÖREREK SAĞLIK BAKANLIĞI TARAFINDAN ONAYLANDI. ÖZEL ÇEVRE TEZ UYGULAMA MERKEZİ BU KONUDA UYGULAMAYA ENGEL YOKTUR MERKEZİN ADI KALP CERRAHİ BRANŞ MERKEZİ. BU TEZİN ARAŞTIRMASINDA VE UYGULAMASINDA BİR ENGEL BULUNMAMAKTADIR.

ARAŞTIRMA KURUL MÜDÜRÜ KURUL BAŞKANI IMZA 12.12.2023 FAKÜLTE BRANŞ DOKTORU SUAD KAMİL RAHEEM IMZA

Omer A Arapes Yeghini Tel : 053

# Appx 2. Demographic and Clinical Information

LAST NAVE			FIRST NAME		INITIAL
DATE OF BIRTH		SEX DM D	F SOCIAL SECURITY		
WARITAL STATUS 🗋 S		Other			
ADDRESS		cit	¥	STATE	ZP
HOME PHONE	c	EUL	EMAIL ADDRESS		
SPOUSE NAME			INSURANCE COMPANY		
RACE White Black	k 🛛 Asian 🖾 Native	Hawaiian/Pacific Isla	ander 🔲 American Indian/Alas	kan Native 🛄 H	spanic 🔲 Other
ETHNICITY 🗋 Hispanic/L	Latino 🗋 Non-Hispanie	c/Latino 🔄 Unrepo	rted,Refused		
LANGUAGE 🗋 English	Spanish French	Arabic Chi	inese 🔲 Sign Language		
EMPLOYER			WORK	PHONE	
Responsible Party In	nformation (for pati	ients under 18 an	d other dependent patient	s)	
Responsible Party In Name:	nformation (for pati	ients under 18 an	d other dependent patient Relatic	s)	nt:
Responsible Party In Name:	<b>nformation</b> (for pati First	ients under 18 an Model	d other dependent patient Relatio	s) onship to patier	M:
Responsible Party In Name:	<b>sformation</b> (for pati First	ients under 18 an Model	d other dependent patient Relatio	s) onship to patier State:	1t: Zip:
Responsible Party In Name: Lost Address: DOB: MM/DO/YMYY	First Sex: _F _M	ients under 18 an Middel Phone:	d other dependent patient Relatio	s) State:Hor	nt:Zip: neCellOth
Responsible Party In Name: Lost Address: DOB: MM/DO/YMYY Emergency Contact	First Sex:FM	ents under 18 an Model Phone:	d other dependent patient Relatio	s) State:Hor	nt:Zip: neCellOth
Responsible Party In Name: Last Address: DOB: MM/DO/YMYY Emergency Contact Name:	First Sex: F M	ents under 18 an Model Phone: Phone:	d other dependent patient neal City:Relatio	s) onship to patier Hor Hor	nt:Zip: neCellOth
Responsible Party In Name: Address: DOB: MM/DD/YYYY Emergency Contact Name: Patient's Insurance I	First Sex:FM	Phone:Phone:	d other dependent patient ntelRelatic City:Relatic	s) State: Hor hor	t: Zip: neCellOth
Responsible Party In Name: Last Address: MM/DD/YYYY Emergency Contact Name: Patient's Insurance I Primary Policy:	First Sex: DF DM	ents under 18 an Model Phone: Phone:	d other dependent patient Relation City:	s) State: Hor Hor	nt:Zip: ne Cell Oth t:
Responsible Party In Name: Last Address: DOB: MM/DD/YYYY Emergency Contact Name: Patient's Insurance I Primary Policy: Policy Holder:	First Sex:FM	ents under 18 an Model Phone: Phone:	d other dependent patient ntel City:RelatioRelatioRelatioRelatioRelatioRelatioRelatioRelatio	s) State: Hor hor	t: Zip: neCellOth t:
Responsible Party In Name: Last Address: DOB: MM/DD/YYYY Emergency Contact Name: Patient's Insurance I Primary Policy: Policy Holder: Date of Birth:	First Sex:FM Information	ents under 18 an Middel Phone: Phone:	d other dependent patient Relation City:	s) State: Hor Hor 	nt:Zip: ne Cell Oth t:

PATIENT REGISTRATION INFORMATION PLEASE PRINT AND COMPLETE ALL SECTIONS OF THIS FOR

## SF-36 QUESTIONNAIRE

Name:	Ref. Dr:	Date:			
ID#:	Age:	Gender: M / F			
Please answer the 36 questions of the Health Survey completely, honestly, and without interruptions. GENERAL HEALTH:					
Excellent	ery Good OGood	Fair Poor			
Compared to one year ago, how would you rate your health in general now? Much better now than one year ago Somewhat better now than one year ago About the same Somewhat worse now than one year ago Much worse than one year ago					
LIMITATIONS OF ACTIVITIES: The following items are about activities you might do during a typical day. Does your health now limit you in these activities? If so, how much?					
Vigorous activities, such as runn OYes, Limited a lot	ing, lifting heavy objects, particip OYes, Limited a Little	ating in strenuous sports. CNo, Not Limited at all			
Moderate activities, such as movi Oves, Limited a Lot	ing a table, pushing a vacuum cle OYes, Limited a Little	aner, bowling, or playing golf			
Lifting or carrying groceries CYes, Limited a Lot	OYes, Limited a Little	ONo, Not Limited at all			
Climbing several flights of stairs CYes, Limited a Lot	OYes, Limited a Little	◯No, Not Limited at all			
Climbing one flight of stairs CYes, Limited a Lot	OYes, Limited a Little	◯No, Not Limited at all			
Bending, kneeling, or stooping Yes, Limited a Lot	Yes, Limited a Little	ONo, Not Limited at all			
Walking more than a mile Yes, Limited a Lot	Yes, Limited a Little	ONo, Not Limited at all			
Walking several blocks Cyes, Limited a Lot	Oves, Limited a Little	ONo, Not Limited at all			
Walking one block CYes, Limited a Lot	OYes, Limited a Little	ONo, Not Limited at all			

Bathing or dressing yourself OYes, Limited a Lot	No, Not Limited at all				
PHYSICAL HEALTH PROBLEMS: During the past 4 weeks, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities as a result of your physical health?					
Cut down the amount of time you spent on work or other activities					
Accomplished less than you would like					
Were limited in the kind of work or other activities					
Had difficulty performing the work or other activities (for exam Yes	ple, it took extra effort)				
EMOTIONAL HEALTH PROBLEMS: During the past 4 weeks, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities as a result of any emotional problems (such as feeling depressed or anxious)?					
Cut down the amount of time you spent on work or other active Yes	rities				
Accomplished less than you would like					
Didn't do work or other activities as carefully as usual Yes					
SOCIAL ACTIVITIES: Emotional problems interfered with your normal social activitie	es with family, friends, neighbors, or groups?				
CNot at all CSlightly Moderately	CSevere OVery Severe				
PAIN: How much bodily pain have you had during the past 4 weeks?					
CNone CVery Mild CMild CModerate	CSevere OVery Severe				
During the past 4 weeks, how much did pain interfere with your normal work (including both work outside the home and housework)?					
Not at all A little bit Moderately	Quite a bit Extremely				

#### ENERGY AND EMOTIONS:

These questions are about how you feel and how things have been with you during the last 4 weeks. For each question, please give the answer that comes closest to the way you have been feeling.

Did you feel full of pep? All of the time Most of the time A good Bit of the Time Some of the time A little bit of the time None of the Time

#### Have you been a very nervous person?

All of the time Most of the time A good Bit of the Time Some of the time A little bit of the time None of the Time

#### Have you felt so down in the dumps that nothing could cheer you up?

All of the time Most of the time A good Bit of the Time Some of the time A little bit of the time None of the Time

## Have you felt calm and peaceful?

All of the time Most of the time A good Bit of the Time Some of the time A little bit of the time None of the Time

#### Did you have a lot of energy?

All of the time Most of the time A good Bit of the Time Some of the time A little bit of the time None of the Time Have you felt downhearted and blue? All of the time Most of the time A good Bit of the Time Some of the time A little bit of the time None of the Time

#### Did you feel worn out?

All of the time Most of the time A good Bit of the Time Some of the time A little bit of the time None of the Time

# Have you been a happy person?

Most of the time A good Bit of the Time Some of the time A little bit of the time None of the Time

## Did you feel tired?

All of the time Most of the time A good Bit of the Time Some of the time A little bit of the time None of the Time

#### SOCIAL ACTIVITIES:

During the past 4 weeks, how much of the time has your physical health or emotional problems interfered with your social activities (like visiting with friends, relatives, etc.)?

All of the time Most of the time Some of the time A little bit of the time None of the Time

## **IPAQ Scoring Protocol (Short Versions)**

## Categorical Score- three levels of physical activity are proposed

- 1. Inactive
  - No activity is reported OR
  - Some activity is reported but not enough to meet Categories 2 or 3.
- 2. Minimally Active

Any one of the following 3 criteria

- 3 or more days of vigorous activity of at least 20 minutes per day OR
- 5 or more days of moderate-intensity activity or walking of at least 30 minutes per day OR
- 5 or more days of any combination of walking, moderate-intensity or vigorous intensity activities achieving a minimum of at least 600 MET-min/week.

## 3. HEPA active

Any one of the following 2 criteria

- Vigorous-intensity activity on at least 3 days and accumulating at least 1500 METminutes/week OR
- 7 or more days of any combination of walking, moderate-intensity or vigorous intensity activities achieving a minimum of at least 3000 MET-minutes/week

## Continuous Score

Expressed as MET-min per week: MET level x minutes of activity x events per week

#### Sample Calculation

MET levels	MET-min/week for 30 min episodes, 5 times/week
Walking = 3.3 METs	3.3*30*5 = 495 MET-min/week
Moderate Intensity = 4.0 METs	4.0*30*5 = 600 MET-min/week
Vigorous Intensity = 8.0 METs	8.0*30*5 = 1,200 MET-min/week
	TOTAL = 2,295 MET-min/week

Total MET-min/week = (Walk METs\*min\*days) + (Mod METs\*min\*days) + Vig METs\*min\*days)

Please review the document "Guidelines for the data processing and analysis of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (Short Form)" for more detailed description of IPAQ analysis and recommendations for data cleaning and processing [www.ipaq.ki.se].

### Appx 5. Six Minute Walking Test

The following elements should be present on the 6MWT worksheet and report: Lap counter: \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_ \_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ Patient name: \_\_\_\_\_ Patient ID# \_\_\_\_\_ Walk # \_\_\_\_\_ Tech ID: \_\_\_\_\_ Date: \_\_\_\_\_ Gender: M F Age: \_\_\_\_ Race: \_\_\_\_ Height: \_\_\_ft \_\_\_in, \_\_\_\_ meters Weight: \_\_\_\_\_ lbs, \_\_\_\_kg Blood pressure: \_\_\_\_ / \_\_\_\_ Medications taken before the test (dose and time): Supplemental oxygen during the test: No Yes, flow \_\_\_\_\_ L/min, type \_\_\_\_\_ Baseline End of Test Time \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ Heart Rate \_\_\_\_(Borg scale) Dyspnea \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_(Borg scale) Fatigue \_\_\_\_\_ % %  $SpO_2$ Stopped or paused before 6 minutes? No Yes, reason: \_\_\_\_ Other symptoms at end of exercise: angina dizziness hip, leg, or calf pain Number of laps: \_\_\_\_ (×60 meters) + final partial lap: \_\_\_\_ meters = Total distance walked in 6 minutes: \_\_\_\_\_ meters Predicted distance: \_\_\_\_\_ meters Percent predicted: \_\_\_\_\_% Tech comments: Interpretation (including comparison with a preintervention 6MWD):

# **CURRICULUM VITAE**

Education information				
License				
University	Baghdad			
Faculty	Medical Technology College			
Department	Physical Therapy And Rehabilition			
Graduation Year	1999			

Articles and Papers

International Conferences and Symposia:

1-Internationl Congress On Advanced Research And Applications.